

National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases

Centre de collaboration nationale des maladies infectieuses

Point of Care Testing for Sexually Transmitted and Blood-Borne Infections A CANADIAN REALIST REVIEW

November 2019

PREPARED BY:

Marc-André LeBlanc



Point of Care Testing for Sexually Transmitted and Blood-borne Infections A CANADIAN REALIST REVIEW

November 2019

PREPARED BY: Marc-André LeBlanc

Contact us at:

National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases Rady Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Manitoba Tel: (204) 318-2591 Email: <u>nccid@umanitoba.ca</u> www.nccid.ca

This is NCCID Project number 460. ISBN: 978-1-927988-64-0

Production of this document has been made possible through a financial contribution from the Public Health Agency of Canada through funding for the National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases. The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of the Public Health Agency of Canada.

Table of Contents

1. Background	1
Sexually Transmitted and Blood-borne Infections (STBBI) in Canada	1
Point of Care Testing (POCT)	
Aim of this Realist Review	
2. Methodology	
Eligibility Criteria	
Final Selection of Articles and Abstracts	5
3. Key Considerations in Implementing STBBI Point of Care Testing	6
3.1 Key Considerations According to Population	6
3.1.1 Gay, bisexual and other men having sex with men (GBMSM)	6
3.1.2 Indigenous communities	10
3.1.3 Transgender populations	12
3.1.4 People who use drugs	12
3.1.5 People in unstable housing	17
3.1.6 Currently and recently incarcerated populations	19
3.1.7 Immigrants and refugees	
3.1.8 Pregnant women	
3.1.9 Sex workers and their clients	
3.1.10 Young people	25
3.2 Key Considerations According to Setting	26
3.2.1 Outreach settings	26
3.2.2 Community and STI clinics	29
3.2.3 Emergency departments	
3.2.4 Hospitals (other than emergency departments)	
3.2.5 Pharmacies	
3.2.6 Non-conventional testing sites	36
3.3 General Considerations Related to STBBI Point of Care Testing	37
4. Conclusion	39
5. Areas for Further Exploration	41
6. Bibliography	43

Intentionally Blank

ABSTRACT

Canada has endorsed global targets to eliminate sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections (STBBI) as public health threats by 2030. Despite these goals, STBBI – including HIV, hepatitis B (HBV) and hepatitis C (HCV), human papilloma virus (HPV), Chlamydia trachomatis, Neisseria gonorrhoeae, syphilis, and Trichomonas vaginalis – continue to be important public health concerns. Notably, reported rates of STBBI have been on the rise for the last decade in Canada and there is a resurgence of congenital syphilis. Furthermore, a significant number of people remain undiagnosed or unaware of their HIV and/or HCV status, as stigma prevents people from seeking medical care and healthcare practitioners may be reluctant to offer STBBI testing routinely.

As testing is the gateway to the continuum of prevention, care and treatment, elimination can only be achieved by reaching the undiagnosed through the implementation of new and innovative strategies that ensure timely and equitable access to quality care, diagnosis and treatment. Many accurate and reliable STBBI POCTs are licensed and used globally, but in Canada only two rapid tests are licensed currently and their availability varies across the country.

This realist review aims to contribute to a greater understanding of the usefulness of STBBI POCT in Canada by highlighting what we found in the literature in terms of the enablers and barriers to implementing STBBI point of care testing. It includes a summary of the evidence regarding feasibility, cost effectiveness, detection of positive cases and early diagnosis, linkage to care, user preference, acceptability and uptake (including traditional serology versus POCT; single versus multiplex tests).

The review first focusses on populations most affected by STBBI and then outlines key considerations when implementing POCT in different settings, from urban to rural, hospital to non-conventional testing sites. Each section considers the evidence in relation to Canada's complex health care and public health systems, its unique geography and many jurisdictions. Lastly, the review summarizes important strengths and weaknesses of POCT in comparison to traditional serology testing.

Point of care testing for HIV, HCV and syphilis has been shown to be feasible and effective, and generally has high acceptance among populations most affect by STBBI. However, the context for testing and treatment follow-up is important. There are also still barriers for specific populations, such as people with unstable housing, people who use drugs and people who face racism and other forms of stigma. Expanding the range of providers who can offer POCT (e.g., peers, counsellors) may increase uptake. Information and education for those testing and those being tested -- including to improve counselling and to address stigma -- are important components to consider for new POCT programs.

The review concludes with areas for further exploration, including potential research to address knowledge gaps. Careful planning of STBBI POCT is critical to success; the entire process from testing and linkage to care, through to treatment completion must be considered when planning an effective testing campaign or programme. Implementation based on meaningful community and stakeholder engagement, careful examination of available evidence, and new research will bring Canada a step closer to meeting the global targets aimed at eliminating STBBI as a public health threat by 2030.

Intentionally blank

1. Background

Sexually Transmitted and Blood-borne Infections (STBBI) in Canada

Canada has endorsed global targets aimed at eliminating HIV, hepatitis C (HCV) and other sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections (STBBI) as public health threats by 2030. Despite these goals, STBBI – including HIV, hepatitis B (HBV) and HCV, human papilloma virus (HPV), *Chlamydia trachomatis, Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, syphilis, and *Trichomonas vaginalis* – continue to be important public health concerns. Indeed, reported rates of sexually transmitted infections have been on the rise for the last decade in Canada, increasing by 49% for Chlamydia, 81% for gonorrhea and 178% for infectious syphilis (1). There has been a resurgence of congenital syphilis in many provinces since 2017.¹ In addition, an estimated 63,110 Canadians were living with HIV in 2016, of whom 14% were undiagnosed (2), and an estimated 246,000 Canadians were living with HCV at the end of 2011, of whom 44% remained unaware of their status (3).

According to the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC), "rates of notifiable STIs have increased despite numerous public health interventions designed to increase awareness and to prevent, diagnose, and treat infection. There are various potential factors that may explain these observations, such as a true rise in incidence, the use of improved diagnostic methods, and more effective contact tracing and case detection" (4).

STBBI are particularly challenging to control due to stigma and discrimination associated with these types of infections, which may prevent people from seeking testing and treatment. As a result, there is a low rate of perceived risk and a low acceptance rate of STBBI testing among the general population, as well as a reluctance among healthcare providers to offer STBBI testing routinely. In Canada, infections are largely concentrated in young people and communities that face additional stigma, discrimination and structural factors that contribute to greater STBBI rates, including First Nations, Métis and Inuit populations, gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men (GBMSM), people who inject drugs (PWID) and people in correctional facilities (2,4).

Left untreated, STBBI may have important consequences on the sexual and reproductive health of Canadians, and current evidence supports that complications disproportionally affect women. As testing is the gateway to the continuum of care and treatment, elimination can only be achieved by reaching the undiagnosed through the implementation of new and innovative strategies that ensure timely and equitable access to quality diagnosis, care, and treatment.

Point of Care Testing (POCT)

Diagnostic tests play a critical role in efforts to eliminate HIV, HCV and other STBBI as public health threats by 2030. Indeed, timely and accurate diagnosis of STBBI is essential for linking individuals to appropriate treatment and care, thus preventing adverse outcomes and limiting the spread of infection.

https://www.ctvnews.ca/health/n-l-syphilis-rates-up-first-cases-of-transmission-to-unborn-infants-1.4288806; https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/syphilis-alberta-health-outbreak-warning-1.5213851; https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/manitoba/syphilis-manitoba-outbreak-infants-1.5032422

POCT may be especially useful in reaching populations disproportionately affected by STBBI, notably those who are not currently using health services due to potential stigma and discrimination or geographic isolation. POCT has been shown to be generally acceptable - and often even preferable to conventional testing options - for many populations. This high acceptability and some of the specific characteristics of POCT (availability of rapid results, flexibility in the settings where it can be administered) can contribute to reaching first-time testers, to increasing testing frequency among current testers, to increasing the proportion of testers receiving their results, to expediting linkage to treatment and care, and to reducing loss to followup. POCT is also useful in outbreak settings to provide earlier access to testing results and treatment, thus decreasing the risk of onward transmission.

At the same time, POCT has limitations. For example, current POCT technologies "Point-of-care testing (POCT) refers to diagnostic tests performed at or near the patient's location by health care professional or other qualified personnel... POCT may be performed in a variety of settings, such as hospitals, clinics, physician's offices, pharmacies, ambulances, nursing and longterm care facilities, or the patient's residence. It may be advantageous compared with conventional testing, because it allows increased staff and patient mobility, portability across community and rural settings, and rapid turnaround time for test results. These factors may expedite decisionmaking and patient management and increase efficiency of care."

Point-of-care testing. Ottawa: CADTH; 2017 Oct. (Environmental scan; no. 65). [https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/es0 308 point of care testing.pdf Accessed on 11 Oct 2019]

do not provide comprehensive screening for all STBBI currently recommended for testing including chlamydia and gonorrhea, which are early indicators of risk for HIV and other STBBI. Depending on the specific STBBI being tested, there may be longer window periods (the period of time to detect from the time of exposure) for POCT compared to conventional testing. Furthermore, the test may only have screening capability (i.e., detecting antibodies), thus requiring confirmatory testing through conventional methods to distinguish between an active infection and a previously treated infection (e.g., syphilis, HCV). POCT also requires immediate resources (including time spent with clients) to respond to a positive test. Despite some of these limitations, there are significant patient-centred and public health advantages to offering a range of STBBI testing options including POCT. Ultimately, it is important for patients, healthcare providers and policy makers to acknowledge, understand and weigh the relative advantages and disadvantages of conventional and POCT testing options in order to make informed decisions about their most appropriate use.

Many accurate and reliable STBBI point of care tests are licensed and used globally, while in Canada, only one HIV rapid test and one HCV rapid test are licensed for use at point of care (since 2005 and 2017 respectively). STBBI POCT availability varies greatly across Canada, with testing rates remaining quite low in Canada compared to the United States and European countries (5).

In Accelerating Our Response: Government of Canada Five-Year Action Plan on Sexually Transmitted and Blood-Borne Infections, the Government of Canada states that, "Deploying new technologies [such as POCT] in non-health settings must be part of strategies to reach the undiagnosed and link them to treatment. The Government of Canada is committed to playing its role in the development, regulatory approval and deployment of POCT and additional novel technologies, according to standardized methods that assure quality" (1).

Aim of this Realist Review

The National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases (NCCID) commissioned this realist review on STBBI POCT as part of several projects that support national efforts to answer these questions:

- What are the enablers and barriers to implementing point of care STBBI testing for populations most affected?
- What works for who, when and under what circumstances?
- What can Canada learn from other countries that have integrated STBBI POCT more broadly?
- What can Canada learn for public health settings?

The purpose of this review of evidence is to describe patient-centre outcomes, feasibility, acceptability and potential consequences of POCT approaches that are relevant to the Canadian context, including the opportunities and challenges for their implementation in Canada. In order to support equitable approaches, it focusses on populations that are most affected by STBBI, as well as the context of rural and remote communities. A previous review, published by NCCID in March 2018, summarized POC technologies and devices that are currently approved, available and used in Canada, or in the pipeline (5).

2. Methodology

This document uses realist review methods to synthesize and interpret a large body of evidence. Realist reviews provide context and practical considerations about the real-world interactions that affect the results of programs and interventions from site to site and population to population (6,7). Pawson et al. describe the realist review as a, "strategy for synthesizing research which has an explanatory rather than judgemental focus. It seeks to unpack the mechanism of how complex programmes work (or why they fail) in particular contexts and settings" (6).

Canada's complex health care and public health systems, its unique geography and many jurisdictions, and the daily circumstances of the populations who may benefit from POCT and other interventions, mean that there will never be a single answer on the value of POCT. The aim of this realist review is to contribute to a deeper understanding of STBBI POCT and how it may work most effectively in different settings in Canada.

A comprehensive search of the literature was conducted July 25, 2018. PubMed, and Medline (via Ovid) were searched for MeSH terms related to Point of Care Systems, sexually transmitted infections, hepatitis B and C, AND terms related to point-of-care (see Supplementary material for complete search string). The search was limited to records published in English and French in the years 1946 through July 25, 2018.

Sociological Abstracts was searched using the terms ((sexually transmitted) OR (sexually transmitted infections) OR (sexually transmitted diseases) AND pd (>20020101)) AND (diagnostics OR diagnosis OR point-of-care OR (point-of-care testing).

Duplicate records were removed using Rayyan QCRI software.

Eligibility Criteria

Titles and abstracts of all records identified through the process described above (n=2,713) were screened for eligibility.

Papers were included if they met the following inclusion criteria.

- 1. They describe POCT for HIV, hepatitis C, or syphilis. This could include testing for other STBBI (e.g., Chlamydia, gonorrhea, HBV, HPV), but only if they also included HIV, hepatitis C or syphilis.
- 2. They focus on at least one key population with STBBI risk relevant to Canada.
- 3. They include at least one key outcome measure relating one or more of:
 - patient-centred outcomes (e.g., patient preference, acceptability or satisfaction; POCT uptake);
 - b. feasibility outcomes for the program or strategy (e.g., ease or convenience; cost effectiveness); or,
 - c. impact outcomes (e.g., linkage to care and loss to follow-up; reaching first time testers; detecting new cases; early detection).

Papers were excluded if they met the following exclusion criteria:

- 1. The study is greater than 10 years old (i.e., published before January 2008).
- 2. A POCT is not physically used in the study.
- 3. The study is focussed on self-tests (versus point of care self-tests).
- 4. The paper is a systematic review.
- 5. The paper focusses on healthcare provider opinions of STBBI POCT (as opposed to patient opinions).
- 6. The study includes a stand-alone POCT for gonorrhea, chlamydia, trichomonas, human papillomavirus or other STBBI, without also including HIV, hepatitis C or syphilis.

Final Selection of Articles and Abstracts

Using above criteria, articles were selected for inclusion in the final report based on their priority and relevance in the Canadian context. They were prioritized if they evaluated implementation of STBBI POCT strategies and policies in high income countries as well as strategies in key populations relevant to Canada. To keep the number of papers reviewed manageable, where there were several studies on a particular topic, a few of the most relevant studies were retained.

As a result, a total of 158 papers were included in this review, including 106 full articles and 52 abstracts and conference posters (for which full articles were unavailable or impossible to locate).

3. Key Considerations in Implementing STBBI Point of Care Testing

Each section below highlights what we found in the literature in terms of the enablers and barriers to implementing STBBI point of care testing, including a summary of the evidence regarding feasibility, cost effectiveness, detection of positive cases and early diagnosis, linkage to care, and user preference, acceptability and uptake (including traditional serology versus POCT; single versus multiplex tests). Where applicable, this includes a description of modes of delivery, including nurse-led and peer-led models. Each section highlights and compares evidence from Canada to the experience of other similar countries and contexts.

Finally, each section includes an analysis of how the evidence relates to the Canadian context, including considerations of our geography, policies, health systems and relevant populations. There is considerable overlap and repetition in these analyses, since similar findings apply to different populations and settings. These repetitions were nonetheless preserved to ensure that readers interested only in particular populations or settings were able to read the relevant considerations. The <u>Conclusion</u> constitutes an overall summary of these considerations.

3.1 Key Considerations According to Population

This section provides an overview of the evidence related to various populations of relevance for the Canadian context, including GBMSM, Indigenous communities, transgender populations, PWID, people in unstable housing situations, currently and recently incarcerated populations, immigrants and refugees, pregnant women, sex workers and their clients, and young people.

3.1.1 Gay, bisexual and other men having sex with men (GBMSM)

A large portion of the STBBI POCT literature concerns GBMSM, especially in terms of HIV testing. With consistently high rates of syphilis among GBMSM and increasing numbers of cases of HCV, studies have also begun to look at HCV and syphilis testing in this population.

Canada

Canadian studies on GBMSM largely focus on rates of HIV testing, particularly how to increase testing rates using rapid testing.

A Manitoba study of testing in inner-city populations showed that GBMSM and individuals with new partners were more likely to seek rapid HIV testing than conventional testing (8).

A study in Toronto that targeted GBMSM with an HIV testing campaign tested 1102 participants, 37% of whom were non-white. The awareness campaign increased testing by 20%. First time testers (13% of the cohort) and those who reported sex without condoms (72% of the cohort) had the highest positivity rates (9).

Two studies looked at HIV testing efforts in Montréal. One study found that offering free HIV POCT improved testing rates, with 10% of patients never having tested previously, and 29% not having been

tested within the past two years. Ninety-three percent (93%) reported they were more likely to undergo repeat screening because of rapid testing and 60% of those found to be positive (2% of those tested) cited the rapid test as the primary reason for undergoing screening. A much higher proportion of those found to be positive were in primary infection than the provincial average (10).

The other study looked at the demographics of an HIV service targeting GBMSM in Montreal's gay village. GBMSM tested at this site were more likely to inhale drugs, to have multiple partners, and to have used HIV Post Exposure Prophylaxis compared with a smaller group of heterosexual men and women who attended the clinic. All new detected cases (2.1%) were within this group (compared to heterosexual men or women who were tested) (11).

Australia

In an evaluation of peer-led mobile van HIV information and rapid testing units, a majority of participants (61.5% of 35) were GBMSM, with many stating a preference for testing in a non-clinical setting and identifying that they would test more frequently with rapid testing availability (12).

Another study looked at HIV testing of GBMSM in fixed community sites as compared to fast-track clinics in North Sydney. It found that fixed community sites were more likely to reach untested men, while fast-track clinics reached more infrequent testers. HIV/STI prevalence was similar across sites (13).

In a randomized control trial comparing rapid HIV testing (among 200 GBMSM) to conventional testing (among 196 GBMSM), rapid HIV testing increased the number of new testers by one-third compared to conventional HIV testing, but it did not significantly increase frequency of testing over time (14).

One study created a rapid HIV testing space that tested 1,226 individuals. Most users were young and return testers were more likely to have been born outside of Australia. The authors suggested that a range of STBBI tests may need to be offered to improve uptake in this space (15).

Lee et al. investigated rapid syphilis testing at two gay community events in Sydney. Of 183 tests, 48% of men surveyed never used condoms or used them inconsistently. Seven tests were reactive with one of those being current, untreated syphilis. GBMSM in this study preferred rapid syphilis testing to serology (16).

Europe

A study that looked at data across multiple European countries found particularly high HIV prevalence in transgender persons, male sex workers and GBMSM. Offering rapid HIV testing through community-based voluntary counselling and testing was effective in detecting new cases in these groups (17).

France. Preau and colleagues (2016) studied the experiences of 436 men (95% of whom identified as GBMSM) who received HIV POCT in two community "non-medicalized" testing programs in France. Satisfaction was related to the nature of the pre-test counselling and the relationship with the counsellor, as well as feeling understood (18).

A study of community-based HIV POCT by non-medical staff or trained peers in four French cities showed that 468 GBMSM with increased risk of HIV sought rapid testing for reassurance, routine testing, and recent risky sexual behaviour, and that this type of staffing was able to reach members of

this group who did not test frequently or recently. Fifteen tests were reactive for HIV and 12 clients were linked to care (19).

United Kingdom. A study from the UK showed that GBMSM were less likely to access rapid HIV testing in a general practice setting than through genito-urinary medical services, perhaps because GBMSM may be less willing to disclose their sexual orientation/behaviour to their general practitioner (20).

In another study, GBMSM liked the convenience of multiple rapid tests for HIV and STBBIs in Newcastle bathhouses and such testing was effective in reaching men who had not previously accessed sexual health services or been tested for STBBI (21).

A study of rapid HCV testing of GBMSM in HIV testing settings showed that it is feasible to combine the offer of testing and that this is an opportunity to detect new HCV cases as well as educate GBMSM on HCV risk behaviours. In 10 months, 64 HIV and HCV POCTs were completed and 1 test was reactive for HCV (22).

Against a backdrop of increasing rates of syphilis among white GBMSM in the UK, particularly in the 25-34 age range, a retrospective analysis of rapid syphilis testing was shown to be an effective tool in settings without access to laboratory facilities onsite. Ninety-eight health records were included in the analysis: 20 had syphilis POCT due to genital ulceration or early infection, 8 tests had confirmed syphilis tests by serology, while 4 had reactive syphilis POCT and were treated on that day (23).

Spain. A retrospective study of testing rates in Spain from 2007-2012 showed that HIV POCT in nonclinical settings detected a significant portion of new diagnoses in GBMSM. 95,575 rapid tests for HIV POCTs were completed with 2,061 reactive tests (1582 in GBMSM). Rapid tests accounted for 3.4% of HIV tests in Spain in 2007, increasing to 11% in 2012 (24).

Between 2008 and 2011, 8,923 people were tested in outreach settings in Spain and compared to STBBI testing clinics and the national HIV surveillance system. Outreach programs were able to reach more GBMSM with 89.2% outreach testers being GBMSM. The authors recommended that outreach testing be located in areas that are frequented by GBMSM, as programme visibility was key to some GBMSM testing for the first time (25).

One study assessed mobile units offering rapid HIV testing in central locations between October 2006 to December 2007. Of 7,138 tests, 70 people had reactive tests with 3 indeterminate results with 83.6% having confirmatory serology. Mobile units reached mostly men, particularly immigrants and people who identified as males who have sex with men (MSM). The authors suggested that prevalence may have actually been higher in GBMSM (though it was already 2 out of 3 new cases of HIV infection) as their questionnaire asked about sexual orientation and not sexual behaviour (26).

Denmark. A Danish study demonstrated the ability of low barrier HIV POCT and STBBI testing in settings that target GBMSM to be successful in engaging individuals who would not otherwise test, particularly young GBMSM and those who engage with conventional healthcare settings at a lower rate. Of 3,012 HIV tests performed, 12% were new testers, 18% non-Danish. In total, 37 tests were reactive and accounted for 11% of positive HIV tests in Copenhagen for the period. A total of 76 men also received positive results for syphilis infection (27).

United States

A Seattle study compared oral, finger-stick and P24 antigen POCT, third generation serology and HIV nucleic acid amplification testing (NAAT) serology in a sample of men and trans persons who have sex with men. It was found that participants preferred the less invasive test experiences of POCT, but had more confidence in the results of conventional serology NAAT tests (with 49% of participants choosing this option as the one test they would select) in a population where knowledge and frequency of testing was high. One thousand testers were enrolled and 42 HIV infections identified of which 32 received rapid testing HIV reactive results. Six (6) individuals were identified to have HIV acute infections (28).

In a study with GBMSM, Reynolds et al. found that education about rapid testing may increase acceptance with high-risk populations (29).

A New York study investigated the effects of HIV rapid testing using OraQuick Advance Rapid HIV-1/2 antibody test of GBMSM in bathhouse settings. HIV POCT was performed along with samples for pooled HIV viral load testing for negative POCT results. Of 493 men tested, 4% tested positive (19 individuals by HIV POCT, 1 individual by pooled HIV viral load testing), and 40% of these cases were new/acute (<170 days) infections. Bathhouses were shown to be a feasible location for testing GBMSM who use these services. They also theorized that stigma and cultural attitudes toward HIV may be a barrier to testing (30).

A Louisiana study implemented rapid syphilis testing at community-based organizations that served men and trans persons who have sex with men. Of 1,234 tests, 54 were positive with 30 confirmed positive by serology (10 were cases previously treated) and 20 of these were acute infections, cases that may not have otherwise been detected as this population's syphilis testing rate is low (31).

Within an HCV rapid testing study in Denver STD [sic] clinics, no individuals for whom GBMSM was the only risk factor tested positive for HCV. The authors concluded that despite the lower than expected positivity, fully integrating HCV screening into the STD clinic provides the opportunity for preventive counseling and education around HCV (32).

Latin America

A Peruvian study of HIV POCT with GBMSM suggests that high-risk samples tested with 3rd generation POCT should be screened with 4th generation HIV tests to avoid false negatives due to the window period. Forty of 172 tests were positive by HIV POCT compared with 45 of 172 for 4th generation serology (33).

A Columbian study demonstrated the feasibility of using respondent driven sampling as a recruitment strategy to reach high-risk populations for rapid testing (34).

Gay, Bisexual and Other Men Having Sex with Men (GBMSM)

Considerations for the Canadian context

- Given high rates of HIV, syphilis and HCV among GBMSM, POCT may be an important strategy to increase STBBI testing rates.
- POCT testing is feasible and acceptable among GBMSM. In fact, GBMSM often express a
 preference to access to rapid POCT (for HIV, syphilis and other STBBI) over conventional
 serology and may be more likely to seek it out. However, they have more confidence in
 conventional tests.
- POCT can be an effective way to reach first time testers, to increase testing frequency, to achieve earlier detection, and to reach GBMSM who are young, who are racialized, who have multiple partners and who use drugs. However, offering a combination of testing options may be required to reach first-time GBMSM testers and to increase testing frequency. These options may include non-clinical (outreach) settings, fixed-site settings, and fast-track clinical settings.
- POCT can be an effective way to reach GBMSM when offered by trained peers and nonmedical staff (perhaps due to concerns over disclosing sexual behaviours), and when multiple tests can be conducted (HIV, syphilis, HCV and other STBBI).
- Targeted testing campaigns and creative outreach seem to be effective ways of reaching GBMSM in general as well as specific sub-communities (e.g., racialized GBMSM, GBMSM living with HIV, GBMSM who use substances). Indeed, offering STBBI POCT in outreach setting such as bathhouses and community-based organizations is feasible and acceptable to GBMSM. It can also be an effective strategy to use in outbreak settings.
- Education about the reliability of STBBI POCT compared to conventional testing and considerations around testing window periods should be taken into account when implementing POCT programs.

3.1.2 Indigenous communities

We found no Canadian studies in the past 10 years that focus exclusively on rapid testing with First Nations, Métis or Inuit populations. However, studies from Brazil and Australia have results that may apply to Canadian Indigenous peoples in rural and remote geographies.

Australia

In an Australian study of rapid syphilis testing in response to an outbreak in two remote Indigenous communities, of 326 persons tested, 30 were positive, with 24 of these confirmed through subsequent serology testing. These individuals were able to be treated immediately; something that may not have been possible without the availability of rapid testing. This pairing with treatment was considered important, as linkage to care would likely have been a barrier, post-testing. The authors recommended retesting after three months, depending on the sensitivity of the rapid test selected, as 5 tests were later found to be false negatives (35).

Brazil

Brazilian research has led to government policy to use rapid tests for HIV and syphilis with quality assurance in remote regions of the country (36). One Brazilian study in particular highlighted the importance of planning and training in developing testing and treatment projects to service remote Indigenous communities (37). Such projects seem more feasible than transporting individuals to larger centres for testing and treatment (38). Ruffinen and colleagues also found that language was an important factor in engaging Indigenous communities, especially during pre- and post-test counselling and in communicating positive results, as well as culturally sensitive education materials and delivery. In the Brazilian examples, non-Indigenous nursing staff had a high turnover rate, compared to Indigenous health workers (37).

Indigenous communities

Considerations for the Canadian context

- It is feasible to deliver POCT in rural and remote communities including Indigenous communities that may otherwise face barriers to access STBBI testing. This approach may be more feasible than transporting individuals to larger centres for testing and treatment.
- POCT can detect significant numbers of positive cases, including in communities facing STBBI outbreaks.
- Offering testing and treatment services in tandem could remove access barriers, facilitate linkage to care, and reduce loss to follow-up.
- Confirmatory serological testing should be offered as part of this package when screening for syphilis and hepatitis C.
- Hiring and training Indigenous healthcare staff could reduce turn-over rates and facilitate the delivery of culturally and linguistically appropriate education and counselling.

3.1.3 Transgender populations

No Canadian studies focus on transgender populations. Many studies from the US, Europe and Latin America report high rates of HIV among transgender populations within their studies (17,39–42).

A study from the United States (US) investigated cost and effectiveness of rapid testing in transgender communities, finding that costs varied widely, depending on the rate of diagnosis at different sites. In New York, 195 tested identified 35 positive HIV infections and averaged \$3,563 per diagnosis. In San Francisco, 106 transgender people were tested with 8 positive HIV infections and averaged \$8,284 per diagnosis (42).

Two studies from Latin America and one study from the US used trained peer facilitators to recruit and provide rapid HIV and/or syphilis testing to transgender individuals. They demonstrated the feasibility of this approach to detect infections, with relatively high positivity rates (31,34,40).

The authors of a 2014-15 Brazilian study showed that introduction of oral HIV rapid testing conducted by non-governmental organization staff who had been trained by the ministry of health improved access to testing for key populations. 29,723 oral tests were performed resulting in 791 positive HIV infections. Transgender people had the highest positivity rate. The authors stated that people accepted this testing strategy in part because they were not exposed to possible discrimination experienced when visiting traditional health services (40).

The authors of one American study using POCT to assess HIV prevalence among transgender populations suggested rapid testing facilitates outreach by community-based organizations in locations frequented by transgender populations (41).

Transgender populations

Considerations for the Canadian context

- Offering STBBI POCT to transgender populations is feasible; offering it through trained peer facilitators may facilitate acceptability and uptake.
- POCT can facilitate outreach by community-based organizations in locations frequented by transgender populations.

3.1.4 People who use drugs

There is considerable overlap in the literature for people who use drugs and people who are in unstable living conditions such as being homeless or street involved (see section 3.1.5), as there are high rates of substance use in this population.

Canada

Several Canadian studies have explored POCT among people who use drugs, mostly in Vancouver. Multiple studies looked at the feasibility and acceptability of community pop-up clinics (CPCs) in Vancouver's downtown east side. These CPCs offered a combination of HIV and HCV POCT, multidisciplinary care, and early treatment and referral. Engagement by people who inject drugs was high, and many new cases of HCV and HIV were detected (43–49).

Vancouver's downtown east side has a high prevalence of HCV. In one study, 33% of participants tested positive for HCV. While 45% were unaware that HCV is curable, most (80%) would consider treatment if offered (44).

In another Vancouver study, 51.8% of PWID tested positive for HCV, one fifth being new diagnoses. Only 37.1% were aware of curable treatment being available for HCV infection, and 53.7% would consider treatment for it where it was offered. There was a gap in transmission knowledge in the population, but a high willingness to engage in treatment with low barrier care options (45).

Another study demonstrated that offering a combination of POCT, increased social support and specialist consultation engaged people who injected drugs who did not normally engage with medical care, despite knowing their HIV/HCV-positive status (48).

A large project aimed at testing 5,000 inner city residents in Vancouver demonstrated that peer HIV testing is feasible with support from nurses and that community events are opportunities to link patients to care. This was achieved through a comprehensive social marketing campaign to encourage testing and increase community awareness of treatment as prevention and by offering a \$5 incentive for participating (49).

Another study offered immediate and facilitated engagement in care for participants testing HIV and/or HCV positive. Though there is extensive testing in the downtown east side of Vancouver, this study (like others described here) still identified a number of people who were previously unaware of their status or not engaged with care. Clients were interested in care when it was offered and convenient (46).

A study in Ottawa demonstrated the feasibility of delivering community-based peer-administered HIV POCT by testing people who reported injecting drugs or smoking crack cocaine, of whom 16.2% had never been tested (50).

Australia

A study in Melbourne demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of offering HCV POCT through needle exchange programs (NSPs) based in community clinics. The project trained staff, including nurses, community health workers and NSP workers, and—importantly—offered both POCT HCV antibody and RNA testing as a confirmatory test. Despite very high acceptability, participants still found the two-hour wait for confirmatory results to be too long. However, a large proportion (74%) did return for results within 11 days, which can facilitate linkage to care (51).

Another Australian study found that targeted HCV screening based on risk factors offered in emergency departments successfully detected new cases among people who inject drugs (52).

Europe

A study in the UK found that using trained community workers ("champions") was more effective than nurse-led testing efforts at reaching participants who use drugs for HCV POCT and linking them to care (53).

In another UK randomized study, offering of mouth swab versus blood-based testing for HBV, HCV, and HIV increased acceptability among young people who use drugs (54).

Similarly, a Spanish study demonstrated feasibility and high acceptability of oral HIV and HCV POCT among people who use drugs. The tests were offered through mobile and facility-based harm reduction programs and were able to detect new infections. However, only about two-thirds (68.6%) of HCV reactive tests could be confirmed (55).

Studies in Germany and Italy demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of offering HIV and/or HCV POCT in community-based low-threshold drug services, whether facility-based or through mobile units (56,57). Unlike the previously mentioned Spanish HCV study, the Italian study was able to provide confirmatory HIV testing. However, the authors highlight the need to improve rates of linkage to care among people who use drugs (57).

Against the backdrop of a significant proportion of PWID having issues with blood access for conventional testing (almost 20%), a study in France compared the acceptability, specificity and sensitivity of HCV POCT and conventional testing among people who use drugs. With similar rates of specificity and sensitivity, POCT was found to detect more cases and was more acceptable. However, half the participants (48%) developed a major anxiety symptom during the 15 minutes of waiting for the test results and needed help and medical assistance (58). Similarly, a study in the US found that being a person who currently or formerly injected drugs, having lower educational achievement, and having impulsivity were associated with higher stress when undergoing POCT (59).

United States

One American study demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of offering HCV POCT within syringe exchange programs, particularly when they were offered in tandem with already existing HIV testing (60).

Implementing HIV testing within substance use treatment programs was feasible and highly acceptable to clients in two American studies (61,62). The authors of the first study suggested four tasks for setting up successful POCT programs within such a service: 1) securing funding; 2) hiring and/or training staff; 3) developing new procedures as required, and: 4) complying with local regulations. Additionally, a champion within an organization may be necessary. Funding should include pilot project funding with flexibility to adjust to what works before a permanent program is established (61).

A study in New York City compared two models of HIV POCT within a methadone maintenance treatment program: 1) targeted HIV POCT upon request by a patient or upon referral by a counsellor, along with pre- and post-test counselling and an incentive (i.e., transportation voucher); 2) routine offer of opt-in HIV POCT upon admission and then annually, without test counselling or incentives. The study found that routine offer of HIV POCT increased the testing rate; 34% of patients were tested, compared

to 14% with a targeted approach, despite the lack of incentive. Additionally, patients were more likely to receive confirmatory test results and to follow up with treatment when routine testing was conducted (62).

A study of HCV POCT in community-based organizations serving high-risk populations successfully detected new cases among people with a history of substance use (10% of participants tested positive, of which 90% had a history of substance use). Only 13% were previously aware of their status, despite a large proportion of them having a primary care provider. None were engaged in HIV-related medical care. The authors conclude that, "Community based testing and linkage to care programs serving high risk individuals have the potential to engage individuals in subspecialty care, where the standard health care system may have failed to do so" (63).

One American study compared HIV and HCV POCT to conventional laboratory-based testing (LBT) among people who use drugs within a substance use treatment centre by measuring the proportion of test results delivered. Twice as many participants received test results in the POCT arm of the study (96%) compared to the LBT arm (51%). Additionally, Black participants had a lower rate of results delivery (64).

In another American study with 2,031 participants, people attending drug treatment programs, needle exchange programs, and other community based agencies serving people who use drugs were more likely to choose standard HIV testing when bundled with hepatitis and other STBBI tests over rapid HIV testing, but less likely to return (within seven days) for results (29).

Another American study conducted HCV POCT in urban community centres and alcohol and drug treatment centres. It detected a significant number of new cases, many of which were among people who reported a history of injecting drugs. Some patients refused confirmation testing and treatment, which may be related to stigma, denial, lack of health insurance, or lack of specific coverage for HCV treatment. As a result, uptake and coverage of HCV therapy in this largely poor, underserved, publicly-funded cohort remained low despite robust outreach, testing, and linkage to care (65,66).

A project in New York City demonstrated the feasibility of offering HCV POCT to people who inject drugs through community health centres and syringe exchange programs. The project detected a significant number of new cases, many of which were confirmed through blood draw. However, there were lower rates of confirmatory testing through the syringe exchange programs compared to the community health clinics, possibly due to the more transient nature of the SEP clients and their greater mistrust of the medical community (i.e., they tend to be more marginally connected to healthcare and therefore less used to encountering healthcare professionals at syringe exchange programs than the clients who used the community health clinics). Most participants attended at least one follow-up medical visit, which was facilitated through patient navigation services (67).

A similar study demonstrated the feasibility of detecting new HCV infections through HCV POCT offered at SEPs and other harm reduction services (68).

Asia

A study from Hong Kong demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of offering HCV POCT to people who formerly injected drugs through rehabilitation centres. While positivity rates were quite high (56%),

only half the participants who tested positive (53%) attended follow-up hospital visits, and only one in five (20%) received treatment. The authors point to the need for an improved referral system and that interferon-free treatment regimens would improve treatment rates (69).

People who use drugs

Considerations for the Canadian context

- Several studies have demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of HIV and HCV POCT among people who use drugs. This includes a variety of settings, including community outreach settings such as pop-up clinics, mobile units, outreach in parks, or embedding testing programs within needle and syringe exchange programs and substance use treatment programs. However, it may be necessary to address resistance among some providers to implement procedures that are outside their usual scope of practice.
- POCT may be especially valuable for PWID who experience difficulty accessing veins for blood draws.
- Even in settings with considerable HCV testing programs in place aimed at people who use drugs, high positivity rates are still detected.
- Using trained peers to reach people who use drugs to offer STBBI POCT and related counselling can be effective, including through partnerships with nurses and community health workers.
- Some studies found low rates of knowledge of effective treatments that can cure HCV among people who use drugs, perhaps due to the timing of when the studies were conducted. When informed, participants have high rates of acceptance of treatment if there are low-barrier care options.
- Many studies found relatively low rates of confirmatory testing—possibly due to the transient nature of this population and the timing requirements for receiving confirmatory test results, mistrust of the medical community, or the need for a blood draw. Achieving higher rates of confirmatory testing requires careful planning (such as offering immediate on-site blood draw in case of antibody-positive POCT results) and more concerted heath navigation efforts.
- Many studies also found relatively low rates of engagement in care and treatment. Likewise, improving this situation requires more concerted efforts, including through better patient education of current treatment options and enhanced health navigation through the use of trained peers and community workers.

(continued)

People who use drugs (continued)

Considerations for the Canadian context

- Models that seem to work best offer testing where people are and embed them within a range of other services, such as health system navigation and on-site access to medical care and treatment.
- Some studies found that people who use drugs experience considerable levels of anxiety
 related to waiting for results of HIV and HCV POCT, sometimes requiring medical attention.
 This should be taken into account when planning POCT programs for this population. This
 might be a reason why some people who use drugs prefer conventional testing options.
 Factors related to anxiety and low rates of return for test results (including confirmatory
 testing) should be weighed.

3.1.5 People in unstable housing

There is considerable overlap in the literature for people who use drugs (<u>see section 3.1.4</u>) and people who are in unstable living conditions such as being homeless or street involved, as there are high rates of substance use in this population.

Persons who are homeless or street-involved are some of the most difficult individuals to reach and may struggle to access conventional testing services (70). Of the 10 studies focusing on people in unstable housing conditions, eight reported detecting new, previously undiagnosed cases of HIV, HCV, and syphilis that may have gone undetected if individuals did not have access to rapid testing (71–78).

Through an audit of treatment outcomes and qualitative interviews, the Dublin HepCheck study showed that rapid testing allows for more individuals to be aware of their status without requiring them to return for follow-up appointments, something that may be difficult or impossible for persons who are currently using drugs, who have chaotic lives or unstable living situations. The researchers suggested a new paradigm of community based "shared care" treatment as 90% of people with positive tests were not engaged in care (73).

When implementing routine nurse-initiated HIV POCT testing in high prevalence primary care settings for US Veterans, it was found that for homeless and street-involved populations, linkage to care is a barrier, including willingness to access care when it is made available, and lack of follow-up by and with participants (71,73,75).

Lack of symptoms (74) and fear of treatment and related procedures such as biopsy (73) for HCV are also related to lack of follow-up for treatment.

A study in Nova Scotia looked at POCT in two fixed and two mobile outreach services, and in this case 67 of 305 clients expressed interest in testing. Many participants were interested in HCV rapid testing as

opposed to HIV testing alone, which may speak to a need for multiple rapid testing availability in a single visit to meet the needs of persons who are street-involved and using injection drugs (79).

One strategy is to embed STBBI POCT within other services relevant to people in unstable housing situations. For example, in a study in British Columbia that offered free rapid HIV testing along with immunization services, 90% of clients said they would not have sought testing otherwise (70).

A study from Winnipeg showed that it was feasible to train community paramedics who could be embedded in shelters and detoxification centres allowing not just access to rapid HIV testing, but also rapid linkage to treatment, removing the barrier to accessing post-test care that relied on individuals going to a different service and perhaps having to make and keep an appointment (78).

Rapid testing can be easily incorporated into locations and services already in place to support persons who are homeless, whether at fixed or mobile outreach locations (70,79), often led by nurses or outreach workers (80), or by training peers (77) to recruit and counsel potential test clients. Familiar spaces and service providers make it more acceptable for some individuals to consider and agree to testing. Developing collaborations with other services and organizations such as food banks, churches and mobile outreach sites could increase access to testing (70).

People in unstable housing

Considerations for the Canadian context

- POCT can be an effective strategy to address STBBI testing barriers and low rates of linkage to care among people in unstable housing situations. Several studies have shown the feasibility of this strategy and its ability to detect new cases of infection.
- POCT can be incorporated into existing services used by people in unstable housing situations, whether in fixed locations such as shelters, food banks and churches, or through mobile and outreach services. Incorporating healthcare professionals such as community paramedics or nurses into testing programs can facilitate rapid linkage to care and treatment.
- Pairing STBBI POCT with other medical services such as immunizations can improve uptake, reaching participants who may not otherwise have accessed testing.
- The combination of STBBI tests being offered should be carefully considered. For example, people in unstable housing situations (many of whom use drugs) may prefer HCV testing to be included rather than a stand-alone HIV test.
- Using trained peers, nurses and outreach workers to reach people in unstable housing situations may improve acceptability by building on existing trust and familiarity, especially when conducted in familiar settings such as existing services.

3.1.6 Currently and recently incarcerated populations

Much of the literature related to STBBI POCT of incarcerated populations is from the US, and most studies focus on HIV.

There are no Canadian studies looking at testing exclusively among incarcerated populations, though one study offered testing to 635 men and women in two correctional facilities in Alberta, of which 508 accepted rapid HIV and syphilis testing. Acceptance of testing was high amongst incarcerated participants (80%), many of whom reported substance use and sex work behaviours. Rapid testing was determined to be feasible in terms of the number of people who consented to testing, reliability of the tests, and detection of new infections that were linked to care (80).

In one American study oral HIV POCT acceptance rates were very high among detainees (98%) and qualitative data showed that corrections staff perceived improved processing compared to phlebotomy. According to the authors, "delivering negative rapid HIV test results in real-time during the jail intake process remained a challenge but completion of confirmatory testing among those with reactive rapid tests was possible" (81).

An Irish study found that testing of inmates was feasible and had high acceptance. The study partnered with prison services, Irish Red Cross, and inmate volunteers to provide education and HIV POCT to 741 inmates. Only one positive result was confirmed. The study mentioned that a number of inmates declined testing, but emphasized the importance of education to decrease stigma related to testing, and supports the North American studies that promote peer-led interventions, such as with homeless and street-involved populations (82).

Young Offenders

An English study looked at the acceptability of oral HCV POCT in a young offender institution. There was high uptake of oral swab testing, and participants indicated a preference for oral testing over a finger prick. However, given this particular test's relatively lower sensitivity and specificity compared to conventional testing, the authors caution its use might best be restricted to inmates who are unlikely to return for results, or who refuse blood testing (83).

Jails

In several American studies in jails, rapid testing for HIV and HCV were generally feasible and highly accepted by inmates (84–86) and provided early detection where individuals would likely have otherwise been diagnosed in later stages of infection (84,85,87). However, problems arose in linkage to care as individuals in jails are often incarcerated for relatively brief periods, and may not complete early treatment while in jail or may not be able to access treatment in the community upon release (85,88).

One study focussed on partnerships between jails, public health and academic medical centres found that these partnerships can be important in linking individuals released from jail with treatment services (89).

Probation and Parole Populations

An American study showed that HCV POCT of community supervision populations is feasible and may reach a population with otherwise low testing rates and potentially high-risk behaviour. Linkage to care was low in this study, despite the offer of a financial incentive (90).

A second American study compared offering probationers and parolees HIV POCT with referral to free testing at an independent location. Participants were more likely to agree to the rapid testing at their community supervision office rather than to go to an external location. The study suggests that it is feasible and beneficial to embed POCT testing in community supervision offices and to build partnerships with HIV care organizations in the community (91).

Currently and recently incarcerated populations

Considerations for the Canadian context

- STBBI POCT for currently or recently incarcerated populations is feasible, acceptable, detects new cases of STBBI, can detect earlier cases, and can successfully link people to care and treatment.
- Testing programs that involve peers can improve acceptability and address stigma related to STBBI testing among incarcerated populations.
- Linkage to care can be challenging in the context of jails, where inmates are incarcerated for shorter periods of time. Having partnerships with healthcare services within the community can facilitate linkage to treatment for recently released individuals.
- Offering STBBI POCT on-site at community supervision offices may improve testing uptake and linkage to care among probationers and parolees, compared to referrals to external services.

3.1.7 Immigrants and refugees

Most of the research on immigrants and refugees comes from European countries, with very little from Canada.

Canada

In a Quebec study, investigators contacted individuals who identified as immigrants who were tested at a Montreal clinic that specializes in STBBI treatment. Most participants chose this site because they wanted rapid results at an accessible location. Some of the feedback received was that it took longer than expected and that the participants would have preferred a wider range of operating hours. Discomfort with disclosing sexual behaviour may have been a barrier; more information was obtained from immigrant GBMSM by using iPads than in face-to-face interviews (92).

Europe

In a study from Belgium, Asian immigrants were tested for HBV and HCV, comparing POCT with conventional testing. POCT was shown to be more economical, and there was a significantly higher rate of linkage to care. The conventional test results were sent to participants 20-45 days after testing, whereas POCT results were delivered and linkage to care was arranged in the same visit (93).

A second Belgian study looked at testing in a low threshold HIV and STI testing centre targeting high risk groups. The study found a high prevalence of HIV in MSM (2.9%) and immigrant clients (3%), with high acceptability and uptake of HIV POCT overall (94).

Approximately one-third of participants (35.4%) from a Spanish study looking at HIV POCT among vulnerable populations included immigrants. Many were tested for the first time. The authors attribute the high uptake of testing by participants to the work of cultural mediators, who helped with outreach and to overcome linguistic barriers (95).

In another Spanish study, which used mobile vans in public squares in four cities to offer HIV POCT, approximately one-quarter of men and women who participated were born outside Spain. The authors found that, "street-based mobile units offering rapid HIV testing in selected sites, may diagnose HIV at an earlier stage of infection than clinic-based sites, and have a low rate of false-positives" (26).

Three Italian HIV studies focused on or included data about immigrants and refugees. One study showed that POCT had a higher rate of acceptability among immigrants, with a higher rate of delivering tests results to participants, and earlier detection of HIV infection than conventional testing (96).

A second study demonstrated the feasibility and high acceptability of HIV POCT among immigrants, with more than half the participants (59.8%) testing for the first time. The authors found that transcultural mediators were important in engaging immigrant participants (97).

Another Italian study included a component of HIV POCT offered to migrant populations through partnerships with non-governmental organizations and primary care services for migrants. There was a high rate of acceptability and uptake of POCT among migrants, two-thirds of whom (66.1%) had never been tested before. Most participants who tested positive (4 out of 5, or 80%) were linked to care (57).

Immigrants and refugees

Considerations for the Canadian context

- Several studies have demonstrated the feasibility of offering STBBI POCT to immigrants and refugees, with high rates of acceptability, first-time testers, receiving test results, early detection and linkage to care. In many cases, POCT outperforms conventional testing on several of these measures.
- Using cultural mediators can help with outreach and overcome linguistic barriers for immigrants and refugees.
- Uptake can be improved by offering testing programs in locations where immigrants and refugees can be found, including through mobile units and fixed sites such as organizations and health services for migrants.
- Strategies for overcoming discomfort discussing sexual behaviour should be explored, including the use of electronic questionnaires. However, language barriers should be considered when using these tools.

3.1.8 Pregnant women

Against the backdrop of a surge in congenital STBBI cases in Canada recently, point of care testing can be an important tool to prevent mother to child transmission, including in late pregnancy and especially in pregnant women who are presenting with limited or no prenatal care. However, there is little Canadian research that focuses on this particular population.²

Canada

One Canadian study looked at the use of HIV POCT for pregnant mothers in perinatal care as an emergency program to prevent perinatal HIV transmission. Of 114 women tested, one was confirmed positive and one false positive was detected; no infants tested positive. Sixty-three percent of the women tested had multiple risk factors including injection drug use. Among the women who were in the seroconversion window at the time of delivery, 25% of these women and 52% of their infants received prophylactic drug treatment. POCT detected a new HIV infection that was able to be treated immediately, thus ensuring the woman's health and preventing perinatal transmission (98).

 ² While there was a significant amount of research regarding this population in low-income countries, we did not include these studies because they did not meet the inclusion criteria.
 We note that a more thorough gender-based analysis of the evidence reviewed was not feasible within our timeframes for this realist review.

A study in Winnipeg found that HIV POCT in obstetrical triage can be used to identify women with unknown HIV status and inform treatment decisions and follow-up for mother and infant (99).

United States

A study from the US explored recommendations in national guidelines to test pregnant women for HIV, with retesting in late pregnancy. The study found high acceptability of HIV POCT during natal care in the third trimester (95% of pregnant women), and the test was perceived to be less stressful than conventional tests by 91% of women tested (100).

A second American study embedded HIV counsellors and testing within obstetrical departments in New Jersey, a state with high HIV rates in women and children. In four years, the convenient, patient-centred program increased testing rates from 60% to 100%, in compliance with US Centre for Disease Control (CDC) guidelines. This coordinated, patient-centered approach helped to identify HIV-positive pregnant patients in the first/second trimesters and immediately connect them to prenatal and HIV care to minimize vertical HIV transmission (101).

Latin America

In Colombia, a study tested 1,048 pregnant women in antenatal care who had never previously been tested for HIV or syphilis. Patients were assigned to either one of two rapid testing groups: two separate tests for HIV and syphilis or one combined test. Acceptability was very high for both testing options (99.6% and 99.8%, respectively). There was no difference in efficacy between the single or combined tests, and all positive cases allowed for timely treatment. However, some healthcare providers (26.5%) did not consider the POCT results to be sufficient to prescribe treatment to prevent congenital syphilis, in the absence of confirmatory testing (102).

Pregnant women

Considerations for the Canadian context

- STBBI testing for pregnant women is standard offer (opt out) across Canada. However, STBBI
 POCT can be particularly important for pregnant women who have not received prenatal care. It
 can be an effective and highly acceptable strategy for ensuring the health of pregnant women
 and preventing perinatal transmission. For example, it can serve as a gateway to treating STBBI
 and to providing exposure prophylaxis.
- While pregnant women may find POCT to be at least as acceptable as conventional testing, some healthcare providers might not consider the POCT results to be sufficient to prescribe treatment to prevent congenital syphilis, in the absence of confirmatory testing. Ultimately, it is important for pregnant women and their healthcare providers to acknowledge, understand, and weight the relative advantages and disadvantages of conventional and POCT testing options in order to make informed decisions about their most appropriate use.

(continued)

Pregnant women (continued)

Considerations for the Canadian context

• Embedding STBBI testing within obstetrical services through a coordinated, patient-centered approach can be an effective strategy to identify pregnant patients with STBBI early in their pregnancy and to connect them immediately to prenatal STBBI care to minimize perinatal transmission.

A Peruvian study looking at HIV and syphilis POCT as part of regular care for pregnant women showed POCT to be feasible, acceptable, and cost effective. By the end of the project, it had become national policy in Peru to include HIV and syphilis POCT as part of regular care for pregnant women (103,104).

3.1.9 Sex workers and their clients

There is little literature on STBBI POCT among sex workers and their clients, especially in Canada.

Canada

A BC study focussed on the indoor commercial sex industry, where there is a high number of immigrant women, primarily Asian. Women in this context did not feel comfortable seeking STBBI testing through their primary care provider. The study demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of providing HIV POCT and STBBI self-swab techniques to sex workers and their clients at indoor commercial sex venues, when offered through a partnership between community health workers (with current or previous sex work experience) and health practitioners. The authors emphasized the need to forge partnerships between outreach programs and existing clinical services in order to offer the full spectrum of care to promote women's sexual health, including confirmatory testing and linkage to care (105).

Europe

A Spanish study comparing program outcomes from HIV POCT use in HIV/STBBI clinics to national surveillance showed that use of HIV POCT was more successful in testing high-risk populations less likely to test in conventional settings. Female sex workers accounted for 23% of the new HIV diagnoses (106).

Another Spanish study demonstrated the feasibility of reaching previously untested male sex workers by offering HIV POCT through street outreach. Among overall participants, 31% were male sex workers, with over half (56.1%) having never undergone an HIV test before (107).

Research from Switzerland demonstrated the feasibility and high acceptability of offering HIV POCT to clients of sex workers in a street outreach setting, with more than 40% being first time testers (108).

Brazil

Sabido et al. investigated POCT for syphilis in an STI clinic in a red-light district in the Amazon region of Brazil. POCT was feasible and highly accepted by female sex workers and male clients though staff had concerns about the test's inability to distinguish between past, treated syphilis infections and active cases; however, this model did allow for same-day results and immediate treatment (109).

China

A study from China investigated syphilis POCT with female sex workers at several STI clinics in two regions. Rates of successful referral to treatment for positive cases among female sex workers varied considerably between clinics. This was found to be related to levels of trust for the testing teams (110).

Sex workers and their clients

Considerations for the Canadian context

- Studies have demonstrated the feasibility and high acceptability of offering STBBI POCT to male and female sex workers and their clients, as well as the ability of STBBI POCT to reach high proportions of first-time testers.
- It is feasible to offer POCT to female sex workers through commercial sex venues or STI clinics. In fact, some sex workers may prefer accessing testing through these venues rather than through conventional settings or their primary care providers.
- In the case of POCT through street outreach or in commercial sex venues, partnerships with clinical services facilitate linkage to confirmatory testing and treatment.
- Community health workers contribute to POCT acceptability among sex workers and may help to build sex workers' trust of clinical testing teams when they work in partnership.
- The inability of some point of care tests (e.g., syphilis) to distinguish between past, treated infections and active cases should be weighed against the ability to offer same-day results and immediate treatment to sex workers and their clients, especially in cases where is likely to be loss to follow-up.

3.1.10 Young people

There is very limited research focussed on STBBI POCT among young people other than as part of cohorts for other populations mentioned previously, especially in the Canadian context.

In one American study, HCV POCT was associated with a subsequent decrease in high-risk behaviors among young people who use drugs, which was sustained for several months. While HCV POCT was not

associated with an uptake in healthcare utilization, there was a higher likelihood of accepting HIV POCT in addition to the HCV test (111).

Another American HIV POCT program offering testing through homeless shelters, schools and college health centres as well as at community events (e.g., health fairs, social events for teens, church functions) managed to reach a high proportion of high-risk youth and to detect new infections among them (112).

Another American study compared HIV testing practices among three types of homeless youth in New York City (service-involved, street youth, and "nomads", or chronic travellers). It found very high rates of HIV testing in their lifetime (92%) and in the last year (82%), particularly among those who were connected to services. However, the rate of referral and linkage to care was relatively low (44.4%). Referrals/linkages were slightly more likely to happen following a conventional test (35%) than following a rapid test (26%) (113).

Young people

Considerations for the Canadian context

STBBI POCT programs can successfully reach young people at risk, such as young people who
use drugs or homeless youth, and they can achieve relatively high lifetime and annual testing
rates. However, linkage to treatment and related services (e.g., mental health, substance use)
remains a significant challenge.

3.2 Key Considerations According to Setting

This section provides an overview of the evidence related to various settings, including outreach settings such as mobile street clinics, primary care facilities such as emergency departments and hospitals, community and sexual health clinics, pharmacies and dental clinics.

Each section highlights and compares evidence from Canada to the experience of other similar countries and contexts. Finally, each section includes an analysis of how the evidence relates to the Canadian context, including considerations of our geography, policies, health systems and relevant populations.

3.2.1 Outreach settings

The literature related to point of care testing in outreach settings often overlaps with the data on populations relevant to the Canadian context, as many outreach projects are designed to reach specific populations at increased risk of STBBI that are hard to reach through more conventional testing approaches. As such, several sections above include summaries of the evidence for outreach approaches to reach populations such as people who use drugs, GBMSM, people in unstable housing situations, and sex workers and their clients.

Supplemental evidence on outreach settings is presented below, none of which is from Canada.

United Kingdom

A study from the UK looked at the feasibility and acceptability of HIV testing in non-traditional sites (e.g., church hall, community centre, bathhouse, colposcopy, male partners of pregnant women attending antenatal care), and found a prevalence rate of 8% among 5,967 women and men tested, with 44% of people tested having never been tested previously (114).

A similar study from the UK looked at tailoring HIV testing to specific communities outside of sexual health settings (at a church hall and community centre). Testing was accepted by 75% of patients (40 women and 72 men), who were predominantly from Black African communities, 50% of whom had never previously been tested (115).

A London study of heterosexual Black men found the greatest barrier was in developing partnerships with community organizations where HIV testing could occur. However, of those who accepted testing, 44.4% had never previously been tested, so targeted outreach was seen to be effective (116).

Another study found that language and cultural barriers prevented many persons from getting tested for HIV. They found that trained peers/community members were able to reach at-risk populations and to link them to care at higher rates than traditional testing in conventional sites (117).

Dunkley and colleagues (2018) showed that in London, hard-to-reach communities were mobilized more by community outreach services (testing offered in-person at an HIV organization) than by online HIV initiatives. Likewise, Black African heterosexual men were less likely to access HIV testing at sexual health services, and were more likely to be tested at such community sites for the first time (118).

In another study from the UK, community rapid HIV testing aimed at reaching GBMSM (testing offered in social venues, community centres, for example) detected HIV at earlier stages than through conventional healthcare clinical settings (average of 468 CD4 count versus 387). The authors comment that robust care pathways, which are culturally appropriate, must be integral to the design of community HIV testing services (119).

Roberts and colleagues (2014) set up a mobile testing site for HIV, hepatitis, syphilis, chlamydia and gonorrhoea at a UK adult lifestyle event, Erotica. Of 180 screens (44% female, 56% male), only 5% said they had tested previously, reinforcing the importance of non-traditional testing sites to reach at-risk populations outside of large urban areas (120).

Spain

In Spain, a study looked at rapid HIV testing in a mobile unit, testing 7,138 individuals, with 54 confirmed positive tests. The project attracted a large percentage of GBMSM and immigrants (women and men, mostly from Latin America). This programme attracted many low-risk group members as well as high-risk, hard to reach populations (26).

Another Spanish study used a highly visible mobile HIV testing programme to test 7,552 persons, 47% of which were first-time testers. GBMSM who were least involved in gay communities and persons with lower education, as well as men and women under the age of 30 were more likely to be first time testers

(107). The visibility of the program was considered a decisive factor for attracting almost two thirds of the people who had not been tested before.

In another Spanish study, non-governmental and non-traditional sites were more highly valued by survey respondents. Mobile HIV rapid testing attracted participants who tended to be young, GBMSM, and who had high sexual risk exposure (121).

United States

A study out of Atlanta looked at a programme designed to test high-risk youth for HIV using POCT and to link them to care. The specially designed testing and motivational interviewing program tested 435 participants (85% men, 91% Black) in non-conventional venues (e.g., nightclubs, college campus, street testing, private parties, malls, fairs, shelters) and found 49 cases of HIV. This approach had higher rates of HIV detection and linkage to care than conventional testing and referral programs (122).

A project in North Carolina used trained student volunteers to recruit youth online and to offer rapid HIV tests, with results provided during the same visit 90% of the time, to high-risk populations, particularly GBMSM. The program was successful in detecting new HIV infections and linking participants to care (123).

A Pennsylvania study of rapid HCV testing in community spaces compared baby boomers with young adults. Young adults who were tested in community settings had higher prevalence of HCV than baby boomers (23.7% vs 14.8%) but were less likely to be linked to care and to start treatment (124).

Linkage to care remains an issue, especially for outreach events, according to a study in Birmingham, Alabama, where higher linkage to care success was seen in testing sites that included or had close connections to HIV care options, especially on-site (125), which supports the studies of linkage to care barriers in other hard-to-reach, high-risk populations, as described in previous sections.

A study in seven US cities provided HIV POCT in outreach and community settings, including public parks, homeless shelters, and bars. This approach was found to be feasible, acceptable and effective at detecting new cases. A large proportion of participants were from racial/ethnic minority groups, GBMSM, people who used drugs or homeless. Venues with the highest HIV positive results and highest rates of participants receiving confirmatory results were bathhouses, social service organizations and needle exchange services. The lowest were parks, street corners and community events. However, there were challenges in reaching PWID. A low proportion of all tests were conducted at needle-exchange programs and drug treatment facilities, and only 11% of people with newly diagnosed HIV infection reported intravenous drug use in the past year (126).

Outreach settings

Considerations for the Canadian context

- Offering POCT through outreach efforts is feasible, acceptable and can be an effective way to reach specific populations at increased risk of STBBI. POCT offered through outreach efforts can detect high rates of positive tests, first-time testers, and individuals who would not normally be reached through conventional approaches to testing.
- Using peers is an effective way of identifying appropriate outreach venues, which should be tailored to reach each specific population, according to local context. For example: reaching African communities through churches and community centres; reaching at-risk youth through nightclubs, malls, campuses, street outreach, shelters and online; and, reaching GBMSM through bars and bathhouses.
- Through training, peers can also provide essential complementary services such as linguistic and cultural translation that can facilitate pre- and post-test counselling as well as referral towards treatment, care and prevention services.
- Embedding POCT services within outreach venues can help overcome the stigma associated with seeking out specific STBBI services, such as HIV testing.
- Building strong commitments and partnerships with local organizations will facilitate buy-in and linkage to related prevention and support services.
- Ensuring linkage to treatment and care can be a challenge when offering POCT at outreach venues. Programs should be designed to mitigate loss to follow-up through partnerships with local treatment services and/or offering testing and treatment services in tandem onsite. In some studies, trained peers or community members can achieve higher rates of linkage to care than through traditional testing in conventional sites.

3.2.2 Community and STI clinics

Canada

A study from Manitoba demonstrated the feasibility of offering HIV POCT in community health centres. The testing program reached a high proportion of first-time testers (68.8%) and detected new diagnoses. There was no difference in time to linkage to care or to viral load suppression between the POCT and standard screening cohorts (99).

United States

An American study showed that offering HIV POCT can be cost effective or even cost saving in sexual health clinics, though offering brief risk reduction counselling significantly increased costs compared to

not offering counselling. However, this increased cost must be weighed against some of the advantages of POCT, including potentially less staff time spent doing follow-up of positive cases when patients do not return for conventional test results. In addition, depending on current clinical practice, the cost of risk reduction counselling may already exist for conventional HIV testing; therefore, including it for POCT does not represent an added cost (127).

A Baltimore study showed that in STBBI clinics, those at the highest risk for HIV also had the highest acceptance of HIV POCT (128).

Community and STI clinics

Considerations for the Canadian context

- Offering STBBI POCT in community health centres and STBBI clinics is feasible and can be effective at reaching first-time testers and detecting new infections.
- Depending on current clinical practice (in particular offering risk reduction counselling as part of testing), integrating STBBI POCT can range from cost saving to cost effective to representing additional costs.
- There is some indication that those at the highest risk for HIV also had the highest acceptance of HIV POCT and that patients who use POCT have rates of linkage to care and viral suppression that are at least comparable to conventional testing.

3.2.3 Emergency departments

Almost all studies related to STBBI POCT in emergency departments focus on HIV, with only a handful on HCV. None addresses other STBBI. There is little Canadian research in this area.

Canada

A study from Winnipeg demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of HIV POCT in a hospital emergency care setting. Most of the 501 patients tested were under 40 years of age, and about half were women (48.5%), Indigenous (53%), and had not previously been tested for HIV (50.9%). Prevalence was higher than other North American studies, at 1.4%. All participants confirmed to be positive were linked to specialized HIV care within 24 hours (129,130). An earlier study from Alberta showed that HIV POCT in acute care hospitals provided a practical option for HIV screening in a time sensitive context (131).

Europe

In France, one study showed little buy-in for routine HIV POCT from physicians in an emergency department (ED) setting, which resulted in 401 rapid HIV tests being performed out of 16,024 patient visits. Arguments advanced by physicians to explain this included: lack of time, reluctance to obtain

inform consent, and questions about the interest of routine HIV screening in emergency departments (132).

In comparison, a study that used nurses to target-screen patients in a French ED resulted in 2,818 HIV tests being performed out of 17,727 participants (133), suggesting that ED staff buy-in, including for routine vs targeted screening, and appropriate staffing are important in successful POCT in EDs.

A study from the UK demonstrated the feasibility of offering HCV RNA POCT in an inner-city ED setting to detect current HCV infection. The study also sought to assess the impact of offering concomitant HIV and HCV POCT on acceptability and uptake. They found a significant decreased uptake when HIV POCT was offered concomitantly with HCV testing, compared to HCV POCT testing alone. The authors hypothesized this might be due to HIV-related stigma in a relatively low incidence community that was predominantly white and economically deprived, and suggested further research to assess whether a similar effect would be seen in a more diverse population with higher HIV and HCV incidence (134).

United States

An American study demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of offering opt-in HIV POCT in an urban ED, with 93% of patients consenting to the test and 50% having not been previously tested (135).

Similarly, another American study demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of offering routine HIV POCT in an ED setting, where background HIV prevalence is greater than 0.1%, as per US CDC recommendations. Almost all patients (98.7%) received the results of their preliminary HIV test, including 100% of those who tested positive (12 out of 1000 patients tested). About a third of patients who tested negative had never been tested (136,137).

A California study in an emergency department that sees low-income, predominantly Latino patients offered non-targeted opt-out HIV POCT. The program detected 25 new cases of infection, and 174 previously diagnosed cases (47 of which were out of care). By having an HIV specialist meet with all out-of-care patients in the ED and schedule follow-up appointments, the program successfully linked 90% of newly diagnosed and 78% of previously diagnosed patients to care (138).

Hsieh and colleagues (2011) compared three models of HIV POCT in EDs, using staff indigenous to the department, staff who were exogenous to the department, and a mix of the two. The exogenous staff group tested the most patients and therefore identified the most patients with unidentified HIV infection, but the indigenous staff group detected a higher positivity rate and had the best rate of linkage to care (100% vs 60%). Likewise, the exogenous group had the lowest cost per patient tested, but the indigenous group had the lowest cost associated with linkage to care per individual (139).

A retrospective study from California found that adding targeted HIV testing (focused on a defined subpopulation thought to have a higher risk of infection than the general population) to clinicianinitiated diagnostic testing (based on clinical signs or symptoms) increased the number of tests conducted monthly and the median number of new infections diagnosed monthly. Over 90% of newly diagnosed and out-of-care HIV-infected patients were linked to care (140).

A study from New York showed that moving from counsellor-initiated testing to routine HIV POCT in an ED led to a seven-fold increase in testing volume. Patients who tested HIV positive were more likely to

be male, uninsured, and non-White, and the authors comment on the value of having free and routine HIV testing in the EDs of large urban hospital centres (141).

A retrospective study from New Orleans explored the impact of HIV POCT offered at an urban ED. Among the 99 patients who were newly diagnosed, half met the clinical definition for AIDS at diagnosis (49%). These patients were mostly male (59%) and African American (79%). The majority had presented for healthcare previously within the past five years (58%), indicating missed opportunities for earlier diagnosis. In fact, 27% had presented three or more times. While the majority (86%) were referred to specialized care, only 60% were linked to care within a year of diagnosis (142).

Similarly, a study from Chicago illustrated the importance of offering targeted HIV screening for patients waiting for admission in EDs. Three quarters of patients testing positive (76%) met the clinical definition for AIDS at diagnosis and on average they had three previous visits to the ED without testing in the previous two years. Almost all patients were non-white: 64% Black and 33% Hispanic (143).

A study from the Bronx demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of using HIV counselling videos to support HIV POCT in a high-volume inner-city ED. While most patients testing positive were linked to care (84.2%), it should be noted that—once again—most patients (34.6% of whom were Hispanic, 37.9% African American) were diagnosed late in their illness and that they had an average of 8.9 healthcare visits prior to their diagnosis (144).

A study compared targeted opt-out HCV POCT screening offered by triage nurses based on risk profile (i.e., age cohort and injection drug use) to diagnostic testing ordered by clinicians at their discretion, in an ED setting. While diagnostic testing yielded a higher positivity rate, targeted screening detected the larger number of cases (70%). However, the study found considerable challenges in ensuring confirmatory testing was conducted (67% of positive cases), test results were delivered (51% overall; 33% disclosed during the ED visit) and linkage to care (22%). This might be due to the indication in the study description that "rapid tests were processed in the hospital laboratory"(145).

Asia

A Hong Kong study within a low-prevalence semi-rural hospital showed that patients find HIV POCT in the ED acceptable but have a preference for testing with their primary care physician. However, not all ED patients have a primary care doctor and therefore the authors suggest this may be a site that is useful for reaching uninsured, lower income persons (146).

Emergency departments

Considerations for the Canadian context

 Offering HIV POCT in emergency departments (EDs) is feasible and acceptable to patients. However, ED staff buy-in and capacity may impact implementation levels. In addition, using staff indigenous to the department, staff who were exogenous to the department, and a mix of the two can influence overall testing rates, rates of seropositivity, rates of linkage to care, and per-patient cost. Using validated videos as support for test-related education and counselling may reduce staff burden in high-volume ED settings.

(continued)

Emergency departments (continued)

Considerations for the Canadian context

- HIV POCT in EDs can achieve high absolute numbers of patients tested, high rates of first-time testers and high rates of receiving test results. It can detect new infections and successfully link patients to care, whether newly diagnosed or previously diagnosed and out-of-care.
- A high proportion of patients diagnosed through HIV POCT in EDs meet the clinical definition of AIDS at diagnosis and many of them had several previous encounters with the healthcare system (including previous ED visits), indicating missed opportunities for earlier diagnosis. This is especially true of patients from racialized (Black and Latino) communities. This may be due to testing policies and practice—whether routine offer (op-in or opt-out), based on risk profile or based on clinical indications—and suggests screening offered through EDs can reach communities that otherwise might be missed, including uninsured, low income and racialized communities.
- The combination of STBBI tests offered in EDs (for example, HCV alone or combined HCV/HIV tests) can influence acceptability and uptake, especially in contexts of high HIV-related stigma.

3.2.4 Hospitals (other than emergency departments)

Europe

A UK study found high uptake of HIV POCT (76%) among patients of an inner city polyclinic within a London hospital, with 75% of these participants never having been previously tested, despite 85% of them having a primary care physician (147).

Another UK study explored the impact of expanded testing in a hospital setting as a means to address potential missed opportunities for earlier diagnosis among patients who were diagnosed late. Offering opt-out HIV POCT in outpatient departments was feasible and led to a high rate of positivity. Rates of late HIV diagnosis decreased significantly (148).

A qualitative study from the UK exploring the experience of people testing positive through HIV POCT used in primary care settings reports that POCT is deemed to be acceptable, possibly linked to its "normalised" use in these settings, although patients may require additional support (149).

United States

An American study found that offering HIV POCT in an adolescent/young adult clinic within a hospital was feasible, acceptable and led to an increase in testing, in first-time testers and in patients receiving their test results. Same-visit results removed a gap where patients might not return to receive results at a second appointment (150).

Likewise, a study of nurse-led programmes in primary care clinics in American veterans' hospitals found that HIV POCT improved result delivery compared to traditional testing in a nurse-led programme (151).

Peru

A study from Peru offered simultaneous HIV/syphilis POCTs in the consultation room of a hospital in a marginalized zone of Lima. There was high acceptability and satisfaction with the simultaneous screening process among patients (152).

Hospitals (other than emergency departments)

Considerations for the Canadian context

- Offering STBBI POCT within hospital settings, particularly when embedded within "normalised" care, may be an effective and acceptable way to reach patients who have not previously been tested and to address otherwise missed opportunities for diagnosis.
- STBBI POCT in hospital settings can achieve higher rates of patients receiving their test results than conventional testing.

3.2.5 Pharmacies

Canada

A study from British Columbia demonstrated the feasibility of offering HIV POCT in pharmacies in an attempt to reach individuals who may not seek out or access testing in more conventional spaces. The pilot study offered HIV POCT in four pharmacies in BC. In Vancouver, three quarters of participants (74%) had not been tested previously and 60% were Asian (153).

Europe

Two UK studies demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of offering STBBI POCT in pharmacies in geographically isolated and sparsely populated areas. First, a study found that HCV POCT in pharmacies on the Isle of Wight reached 186 individuals, 68 of which reported injection drug use, and 17 of which tested positive for HCV (154).

Second, in a study offering a combined HIV and syphilis POCT in pharmacies in Cumbria, Phillips and colleagues (2018) found that most participants (81.9%) stated ease of access as the reason for choosing to be tested in a pharmacy. Nearly half the participants (44%) had never tested for HIV before. Though there were no positive HIV and only one positive syphilis test result, numbers of tests increased on a monthly basis as education and awareness continued (155).

A Spanish study evaluated a pharmacy-based HIV POCT programme offered in a low HIV prevalence region of Spain. In total, 2,168 people were tested in 16 pharmacies in 10 cities with low HIV prevalence. There were 23 positive tests: 60.9% among GBMSM, 34.8% among heterosexual men and 4.3% among women. Fifty per cent (50%) of GBMSM and 75% of heterosexual men testing positive were previously untested (156).

United States

Four US studies demonstrated the feasibility of using pharmacies as sites for either HCV POCT (157,158) or HIV POCT (159,160).

The first pilot study (in California) demonstrated the feasibility of incorporating HCV POCT into their routine pharmacy work, despite some concern about whether non-customers would see the pharmacy as a testing option, and that it might sometimes be difficult for a pharmacist to balance the time it takes for counselling with regular pharmacy duties. One participant was found to be HCV positive (157).

The second pilot study (in Michigan) also found one HCV positive case. It assessed the time and cost per patient and found that on average pharmacists and technicians spent a total of 22 minutes with each patient and that the cost was US\$14. This small study suggests that testing in pharmacies is feasible. The authors suggest that costs might be offset through partnering with public health and other organizations, particularly to acquire test kits and education materials (158).

A third pilot study involved 21 community pharmacies and retail clinics offering HIV POCT, with once again one confirmed new diagnosis (out of 1,540 tests). However, a large proportion of confirmatory test results were not reported back to the pharmacy. Average time spent with the participants was 4 minutes pre-test and 3 minutes post-test, with 23 minutes wait time for results (160).

Finally, a fourth study was carried out in pharmacies in NYC neighbourhoods with high HIV prevalence, high rates of poverty and predominantly minority populations (53.8% Hispanic and 43.3% Black). Using trained peer public health advocates (PHAs) to recruit, counsel and test clients, the program was able to detect new HIV diagnoses. Linkage to care was high for those who tested positive (83%) and the average time between positive test result and seeing an HIV specialist was less than one hour. This study suggests that pharmacy-based testing is an important addition to other community testing programs, and an additional way to reach persons who would not likely seek or access testing in other more conventional locations (159).

Pharmacies

Considerations for the Canadian context

• STBBI POCT offered in pharmacies is feasible and acceptable and can reach a significant proportion of first-time testers, including in remote regions, regions with low prevalence, as well as in urban settings with high prevalence.

(continued)

Pharmacies (continued)

Considerations for the Canadian context

- Offering STBBI POCT in pharmacies can reach individuals who may not seek out or access testing in more conventional spaces, either due to stigma or geographic isolation.
- STBBI POCT can be delivered in pharmacies through pharmacists or trained community workers. It can be incorporated into routine pharmacy work while allowing pharmacists to balance the time required for testing with regular pharmacy duties. Partnering with public health and local community partners could offset costs such as by acquiring testing kits and educational materials as well as by reducing staff time required for counselling and linkage to care. Such partnerships may be important in order to ensure confirmatory testing is conducted and to ensure successful linkage to care.

3.2.6 Non-conventional testing sites

Dental clinics

A study in Florida looked at the feasibility and acceptability of HIV POCT in dental offices in communities with high HIV rates. Oral rapid tests were performed on 600 patients. Though no positive cases were detected, the study suggests that patients are comfortable talking to their dental professionals about HIV, and that this may be a useful site for education, prevention and testing in high-risk communities (161).

Assisted living facilities

An American study demonstrated the feasibility and acceptability of offering HIV POCT to veterans who had mental health and substance use disorder diagnoses residing in assisted living facilities. The tests were provided by nurses known to the participants, which likely contributed to the remarkably high acceptance rate (98%). HIV prevalence was 3.1% among 64 participants, very few of which had been tested in the previous five years (17%) (162).

Infectious disease clinics

A North Carolina study offered HIV POCT to persons accompanying HIV-positive patients to infectious diseases clinics, detecting 16 new positive cases out of 450 persons tested (3.6% prevalence). Of this high rate of positive clients, three had never been tested. Most patients who tested positive (86.4%) had confirmatory testing and immediately entered into HIV care at the clinic. This study showed that it was possible to reach high-risk populations who may not have intended to test but found themselves in a low-barrier, convenient testing situation, and that it was possible to detect new cases and immediately link people to care (163).

Non-conventional testing sites

Considerations for the Canadian context

 HIV POCT offered in carefully selected non-conventional sites such as dental clinics can be highly acceptable to groups at high risk, could reach people who have not often (or never) been tested, detect a high proportion of new infections, and successfully link patients to care. High acceptability is likely linked to patient trust of healthcare professionals in settings they already use.

3.3 General Considerations Related to STBBI Point of Care Testing

This section provides an overview of the evidence related to STBBI point of care testing in general, not already covered in previous sections.

Comparing POCT to conventional testing. A study comparing blood-based HCV testing to HCV POCT found that the testing modalities complemented each other. Patients tested with POCT were more likely to be co-infected with HIV and POCT had a higher rate of finding new infections (164).

Another study comparing HCV POCT to conventional testing offered through mobile medical clinics in Connecticut found almost equal rates of preference for one form of testing over the other (47.7% POCT; 52.3% standard testing) and no difference in HCV prevalence. However, those who chose HCV POCT were significantly more likely to be linked to care after 30 days than those who chose standard testing (93.8 vs. 18.2%) (165).

A German study compared HIV POCT to conventional testing and did not demonstrate that POCT was able to reach populations that could not be reached through conventional testing. Furthermore, POCT was not as efficient at detecting very early HIV infections (166).

Introduction of rapid HIV testing was shown in Brazil to increase the rate of timely diagnoses of HIV, and to decrease the rate of late and very late diagnoses (167).

Alternative testing modalities. A Dutch study demonstrated the feasibility of adding HIV-RNA rapid testing to routine serological testing among GBMSM in a sexual health clinic, in order to identify acute HIV infections, to provide same day results and to start immediate treatment (168).

In a study from California, two (or more) rapid tests were used to confirm initial positives. The positive predictive value (PPV) of using a second (different) rapid HIV test was 100% compared to 86.4% with a single test. Clients received confirmatory results the same day (as opposed to an average of 8 days later with conventional laboratory confirmatory testing), they were referred to care within 90 days, and costs were lower than laboratory confirmation tests. The authors found this study demonstrated the benefits of an improved PPV and immediate referral to HIV care (169).

General Considerations

Considerations for the Canadian context

 Conventional venous testing and POCT are complementary testing modalities. In many cases, POCT can be more acceptable, improve rates of receiving test results, early detection and linkage to care. However, for some populations and some specific STBBI (e.g., HIV in GBMSM), conventional testing can detect very early infections and is still needed for confirmatory testing. Combining two (or more) rapid tests can also be used to confirm initial positives.

4. Conclusion

Overall, point of care testing for HIV, hepatitis C and syphilis has been shown to be feasible and effective, generally with high acceptance among populations most affected by STBBI. However, the context within which testing is being employed is an important consideration.

High acceptability rates for POCT may be in part due to its less invasive nature than conventional venous blood draws. Offering a broader range of testing modalities may contribute to greater acceptability as well. For example, oral swab tests for HIV and HCV could be seen as less invasive than a finger prick test that draws blood. In addition, offering multiplex testing options may be preferable for some individuals. The rapidity with which results can be obtained through POCT contributes greatly to its acceptability and flexibility (e.g., ability to use it in outreach settings or for women presenting in late pregnancy or for delivery). However, as some research suggests, conventional testing is still needed to confirm a positive rapid test result, to distinguish between an active untreated infection and an old treated infection (HCV and syphilis), or to detect HIV cases within a shorter window period.

The literature demonstrates that STBBI POCT can play an important role in reaching first-time testers, detecting new infections, ensuring test results are delivered and expediting linkage to care. However, there are still barriers for many specific populations, such as people with less stable living conditions, people who use drugs or people from racialized communities. Minimizing the time it takes to get HIV, HCV and syphilis test results increases the likelihood that individuals, particularly with chaotic lives, will be willing and able to access care. Housing testing and treatment services together on site and using trained peers can help overcome these barriers for a range of populations (e.g., people in unstable housing situations, people transiting through short-term correctional facilities) and for outreach settings where loss to follow-up is more likely. Embedding POCT within services and organizations that specific populations already use (e.g., shelters, needle exchange or immunization programs, bathhouses) can improve acceptability and uptake by building on trust, familiarity and convenience. Enhanced (ideally peer-driven) health navigation services may be required for some populations.

Careful planning of STBBI POCT is critical to success; the entire process from testing and linkage to care through to completed treatment needs to be considered when planning an effective testing campaign, project or programme, including knowing the specific populations to be reached. A combination of approaches may be needed, such as: testing programs designed to reach populations most affected by STBBI in general (e.g., GBMSM); targeted testing campaigns and creative outreach to reach specific sub-communities (e.g., racialized GBMSM, GBMSM living with HIV, GBMSM who use substances); and, general testing programs such as routine offer of testing in emergency departments, which can reach significant numbers of people that might not otherwise access testing.

STBBI testing offered through conventional healthcare settings (e.g., emergency departments, community health and STBBI clinics) and non-conventional settings (e.g., pharmacies, dental clinics) can be effective. In the case of conventional healthcare settings, there is considerable evidence that there are several missed opportunities for testing individuals at risk of STBBI when they interact with the healthcare system—especially individuals from racialized communities. This should be considered when designing testing programs and policies. Potential strategies to improve the cost-effectiveness of testing

programs in non-conventional settings include the development of external partnerships with local public health, healthcare facilities and community organizations. Such partnerships could provide test kits, facilitate linkage to care or even support existing on-site staff by conducting some of the testrelated education and counselling. Planning testing programs in either type of setting requires careful consideration of potential barriers such as workloads and staff attitudes toward rapid testing.

Peers and cultural mediators were found to be useful, particularly with populations that may not access medical services, or may not be comfortable in doing so. In addition, they can facilitate the delivery of culturally and linguistically appropriate education and counselling.

Expanding the range of healthcare providers that can offer POCT, such as nurses and pharmacists, may increase uptake. Where regulations allow, using community workers and peers to conduct testing, whether alone or in partnership with healthcare providers, can be beneficial as well.

Information, education and communication are important elements to consider in testing campaigns. This includes information about the testing programme, point of care testing itself and STBBI in general, as well as ensuring appropriate pre- and post-test counselling and risk-behaviour counselling. Specific themes that should be addressed include HIV stigma, lack of knowledge about HCV treatability, and the efficacy and reliability of POCT. This should include information about the relative benefits and drawbacks of both POCT and conventional testing such as considerations around ease of use, time needed to obtain results, window periods, and the potential need for confirmatory testing.

Innovative technological approaches should be explored to reach particularly isolated and marginalized populations, such as: using tablets to collect sensitive risk behaviour data; providing validated videos to patients as a way to complement education and counselling efforts in high-volume settings; and, using tele-health to reach individuals living in rural and remote communities.

Ultimately, conventional serology and point-of-care testing are complementary modalities. Making the most appropriate and strategic use of these powerful tools requires:

- meaningful collaboration and engagement from all relevant stakeholders, including policymakers, public health officials, healthcare providers and the communities most affected by STBBI in Canada, such as GBMSM, transgender populations, Indigenous communities, people who use drugs, people in unstable housing situations, currently and recently incarcerated populations, immigrants and refugees, pregnant women, sex workers and their clients, and young people;
- carefully examining the available evidence, including the contents of this report as well as other key resources, such as NCCID's <u>previous review of evidence</u>: Reaching Underserved Populations: Leveraging Point-of-Care Tests for Sexually Transmitted and Blood-Borne Infections to Explore New Program Options in Canada (5);
- urgently supporting new Canadian-specific research to fill the evidence gaps (see section 5);
- acknowledging, understanding and weighing the relative advantages and disadvantages of conventional and point-of-care testing options, including their potential role in meeting Canada's commitment to meeting global targets aimed at eliminating HIV, hepatitis C and other STBBI as public health threats by 2030.

5. Areas for Further Exploration

For many specific populations, there seems to be a lack of Canadian research relating to STBBI point of care testing. In fact, in some instances, there is limited international research as well.

- There is a lack of Canadian research among GBMSM beyond HIV POCT (i.e., for HCV, syphilis, other STBBI).
- There is a lack of Canadian data (and little international data) on STBBI POCT among transgender populations.
- We found no Canadian studies in the past 10 years that focus exclusively on STBBI POCT with Indigenous populations.
- There is a lack of research among people who use drugs for STBBI other than HIV and HCV.
- There is information on STBBI POCT among currently and recently incarcerated populations, but the evidence for appropriate follow up and evidence from Canada is limited.
- There is limited Canadian research on STBBI POCT among immigrants and refugees.
- There is limited research on STBBI POCT among sex workers and their clients, especially from Canada.
- There is very limited research focussed on STBBI POCT among young people other than as part of cohorts for other key populations, especially in the Canadian context.

In some instances, it is possible to learn from research taking place in similar contexts. For example, some of the studies among Indigenous persons in Australia and Brazil might provide useful insights that may be applicable to Indigenous populations in Canada, though our geography may present unique challenges not present in other countries, such as reaching Inuit communities in the far North.

Much of the Canadian research is based in our larger urban areas, while rural and remote populations, Indigenous and otherwise, may have little or no access to testing and care, even in a country with a largely public funded healthcare system. Perhaps drawing from more studies conducted within lowresource settings could be informative for designing Canadian implementation research and pilot testing in these hard-to-reach areas.

More research is needed to clarify whether there is a preference in different populations for multiple individual tests for different infections or whether there would be uptake for multiplex tests that use one sample for multiple test results. The studies that do look at multiple tests do not seem to clearly show a preference. In some studies, using multiplex tests is acceptable because it is more convenient to have everything done in one visit, while in others, participants may have preferred bundled tests without HIV. Yet other studies show that some persons only want individual testing, especially if they have recently tested for one or more infection, if they don't want to know results, or if stigma (often HIV-related) is a barrier in some contexts.

POCT has been shown to contribute to earlier detection of STBBI, though few studies provide enough specific information (such as CD4 counts in the case of HIV) to determine the extent to which this is true.

As a matter of public health urgency, policymakers, public health officials, healthcare providers and the communities most affected by STBBI in Canada should urgently support new Canadian-specific research to fill these evidence gaps.

6. Bibliography

- 1. Public Health Agency of Canada. Accelerating our Response: Government of Canada Five-Year Action Plan on Sexually Transmitted and Blood-borne Infections. Ottawa, Canada; 2019.
- 2. Public Health Agency of Canada. Summary: Estimates of HIV incidence, prevalence and Canada's progress on meeting the 90-90-90 HIV targets, 2016 Canada.ca. Ottawa, Canada; 2018.
- 3. Ha S, Totten S, Pogany L, Wu J, Gale-Rowe M. Hepatitis C in Canada and the importance of riskbased screening. Can Commun Dis Rep. 2016 Mar 3;42(3):57–62.
- 4. Public Health Agency of Canada. Report on Sexually Transmitted Infections in Canada: 2013-2014. Ottawa, Canada; 2017.
- 5. Smallwood M. Reaching Underserved Populations: Leveraging Point-of-Care Tests for Sexually Transmitted and Blood-borne Infections to Explore New Program Options in Canada. National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases: Winnipeg, MB; 2018.
- Pawson R, Greenhalgh T, Harvey G, Walshe K. Realist review a new method of systematic review designed for complex policy interventions. J Health Serv Res Policy. 2005;10(suppl 1):21– 34.
- 7. Rycroft-Malone J, McCormack B, Hutchinson AM, DeCorby K, Bucknall TK, Kent B, et al. Realist synthesis: illustrating the method for implementation research. Implement Sci. 2012;7(1):33.
- 8. Pindera C, Becker M, Kasper K, Carnochan T, Sorensen T, Migliardi P. Evaluating the feasibility of point of care testing in Manitoba.; Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2010. 21(3):68B-69B.
- 9. Gardner S, Campbell D, Light L, Adam BD, Globerman JM, Major C, et al. "Get on it" MSM testing blitz: HIV test results. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2013;24:91A.
- 10. Thomas R, Machouf N, Trottier B, Vezina S, O'Brien R, Milne M, et al. A new approach to encourage HIV testing in high-risk populations at the clinique l'actuel. Sex Transm Infect. 2011;87:A201.
- 11. Engler K, Rollet K, Lessard D, Thomas R, Lebouche B. Ability of a rapid HIV testing site to attract and test vulnerable populations: a cross-sectional study on Actuel sur Rue. Int J STD AIDS. 2016;27(11):973–7.
- 12. Rudduck T, Brown S. Assessing the use of a peer-led mobile van for effective HIV service delivery in regional Queensland: A whole of community approach. Sex Transm Infect. 2015;91:A240.
- 13. Knight V, Wand H, Gray J, Keen P, McNulty A, Guy R. Convenient HIV testing service models combined with rapid testing are attracting previously untested gay and bisexual men. Sex Transm Infect. 2015;91:A224.
- 14. Read TRH, Hocking JS, Bradshaw CS, Morrow A, Grulich AE, Fairley CK, et al. Provision of rapid HIV tests within a health service and frequency of HIV testing among men who have sex with men: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2013;347:f5086.

- 15. Ryan KE, Wilkinson AL, Leitinger D, El-Hayek C, Ryan C, Pedrana A, et al. Characteristics of gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men testing and retesting at Australia's first shop-front rapid point-of-care HIV testing service. Sex Health. 2016;13(6):560–7.
- 16. Lee D, Fairley C, Cummings R, Bush M, Read T, Chen M. Men who have sex with men prefer rapid testing for syphilis and may test more frequently using it. Sex Transm Dis. 2010;37(9):557–8.
- 17. Fernandez-Lopez L, Reyes-Uruena J, Agusti C, Kustec T, Serdt M, Klavs I, et al. The COBATEST network: monitoring and evaluation of HIV community-based practices in Europe, 2014-2016. HIV Med. 2018;19:21–6.
- Preau M, Lorente N, Sagaon-Teyssier L, Champenois K, Gall JML, Mabire X, et al. Factors associated with satisfaction with community-based non-medicalized counseling and testing using HIV rapid tests among MSM in France. AIDS Care. 2016;28(10):1240–8.
- 19. Champenois K, Le Gall JM, Jacquemin C, Jean S, Martin C, Rios L, et al. ANRS-COM'TEST: description of a community-based HIV testing intervention in non-medical settings for men who have sex with men. BMJ Open. 2012;2(2):e000693.
- 20. Surah S, O'Shea S, Dunn H, Mitra R, Fitzgerald C, Ibrahim F, et al. Utilization of HIV point-of-care testing clinics in general practice and genitourinary medicine services in south-east London. Int J STD AIDS. 2009;20(3):168–9.
- 21. Jeffrey N, Harrison A, Lawson J, Haney L, Mallace L, Foster K. A shot in the dark -- will outreach STI and HIV testing work in Newcastle saunas? HIV Med. 2014;15:40.
- 22. Evans L, Funk D. Integrating rapid hepatitis C testing into a communitybased HIV testing program targeting MSM. Sex Transm Dis. 2014;41:S106.
- 23. Hayward R, Boothby M. The role of syphilis point-of-care testing in the management of patients with genital ulceration. Sex Transm Infect. 2016;92:A79.
- 24. Fernandez Ballbuena S, Hoyos J, Belza MJ, Pujol F, Alvarez J, Zulaica D, et al. HIV Rapid Testing Programs in Non-Clinical Settings have the Potential to Constitute a Major Diagnostic Option for MSM in Spain. AIDS Behav. 2017;21(2):525–33.
- 25. Belza MJ, Hoyos J, Balbuena SF, Diaz A, Bravo MJ, la de Fuente L, et al. Assessment of an out reach street-based HIV rapid testing programme as a stradegy to promote early diagnosis: A comparison with two survillance systems in Spain, 2008-2011. Eurosurveillance. 2015;20(14):1–11.
- 26. de la Fuente L, Delgado J, Hoyos J, Belza MJ, Alvarez J, Gutierrez J, et al. Increasing early diagnosis of HIV through rapid testing in a street outreach program in Spain. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2009;23(8):625–9.
- 27. Qvist T, Cowan SA, Graugaard C, Helleberg M. High linkage to care in a community-based rapid HIV testing and counseling project among men who have sex with men in Copenhagen. Sex Transm Dis. 2014;41(3):209–14.

- 28. O'Neal J D, Golden MR, Branson BM, Stekler JD. HIV nucleic acid amplification testing versus rapid testing: It is worth the wait. Testing preferences of men who have sex with men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2012;60(4):e117–20.
- 29. Reynolds GL, Fisher DG, Napper LE, Marsh KA, Willey C, Brooks R. Results from a multiple morbidities testing program offering rapid HIV testing bundled with hepatitis and sexually transmitted infection testing. Public Heal Reports. 2008;123:63–9.
- 30. Daskalakis D, Silvera R, Bernstein K, Stein D, Hagerty R, Hutt R, et al. Implementation of HIV testing at 2 New York City bathhouses: from pilot to clinical service. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48(11):1609–16.
- 31. Block R, Fitch J, Wendell D. Using rapid syphilis testing to increase screening in community based clinics and organizations. Sex Transm Dis. 2016;43(10):S135.
- 32. Al-Tayyib A, Ginnett L, Edel M, Weise J, Thrun M. PCSI in practice: Fully integrated screening for hepatitis C virus in an STD clinic. Sex Transm Dis. 2014;41:S127.
- Leon S, Cordova LR, Konda KA, Flores JA, Romero L, Salvatierra HJ, et al. Missed opportunities for HIV diagnosis when using 3rd generation rapid point-of-care HIV antibody testing. Sex Transm Dis. 2014;41:S142–3.
- 34. Montano D, Mueses-Marin HF, Galindo J, Kim J, Martinez-Cajas JL, Wylie J, et al. Integrating respondent driven sampling (RDS) recruitment and peer facilitation: Preliminary results on reaching populations most at risk for HIV/syphilis in Cali, Colombia. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2015;26:88B.
- 35. Su JY, Garton L, Russell M, Yip TW, Gunathilake M, Thalanany M, et al. Are rapid point-of-care tests for syphilis useful in outbreak settings in remote australia?-an experience from the northern territory. Sex Transm Infect. 2015;91:A28.
- 36. Benzaken A, Pinto VM, Carvalho CH, Peeling R. Increasing access to HIV and syphilis screening in remote areas using rapid tests. Sex Transm Infect. 2011;87:A2.
- 37. Ruffinen CZ, Sabido M, Diaz-Bermudez XP, Lacerda M, Mabey D, Peeling RW, et al. Point-of-care screening for syphilis and HIV in the borderlands: challenges in implementation in the Brazilian Amazon. BMC Health Serv Res. 2015;15:495.
- 38. Carvalho CH, Benzaken A, Peeling R, Santos A, Terris-Prestholt F. Cost-effectiveness of introducing rapid syphilis testing in the Amazon region, Brazil. Sex Transm Infect. 2011;87:A333.
- Castel AD, Magnus M, Peterson J, Anand K, Wu C, Martin M, et al. Implementing a novel citywide rapid HIV testing campaign in Washington, D.C.: Findings and lessons learned. Public Health Rep. 2012;127(4):422–31.
- 40. Pascom ARP, Dutra de Barros CH, Lobo TD d M, Pasini EN, Comparini RA, Caldas de Mesquita F. Point-of-care HIV tests done by peers, Brazil. Bull World Health Organ. 2016;94(8):626–30.
- 41. Schulden JD, Song B, Barros A, Mares-DelGrasso A, Martin CW, Ramirez R, et al. Rapid HIV testing in transgender communities by community-based organizations in three cities. Public Heal Reports (Washington, DC 1974). 2008;123 Suppl:101–14.

- 42. Shrestha RK, Sansom SL, Schulden JD, Song B, Smith LC, Ramirez R, et al. Costs and effectiveness of finding new HIV diagnoses by using rapid testing in transgender communities. AIDS Educ Prev. 2011;23(3):49–57.
- 43. Alimohammadi A, Holeksa J, Truong D, Conway B. Using rapid point of care HCV testing to engage marginalized inner city populations. J Viral Hepat. 2018;25:154.
- 44. Conway B, Hakobyan S, Kerkerian G, Sharma S, Tahmasebi S, Tossonian H. Community-based infectious disease clinics: A tool of engagement for vulnerable populations. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2015;26(2):e25.
- 45. Conway B, Vafadary S, Sharma S, Zahedieh F, Shravah J, Raycraft T, et al. The community pop-up clinic as a tool of engagement for vulnerable populations with HCV and HIV infections. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;2016.
- 46. Hakobyan S. Cascade of care of HCV & HIV infected patients identified through community popup clinics (CPCs). Hepatology. 2015;62:1131A.
- Kiani G, Shahi R, Alimohammadi A, Raycraft T, Singh A, Conway B. Community pop-up clinic: A harm reduction strategy to engage hepatitis C virus infected injection drug users. J Hepatol. 2017;66(1):S489.
- 48. Rashidi B, Tossonian H, Sharma S, Hung A, Yen K, Huang X, et al. Engaging high risk populations of downtown vancouver through Hepatitis C and HIV portable pop-up clinics. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2014;25:19A.
- 49. Thumath MA, Compton M, Bath M, Bolton S. A peer HIV testing and linkage to care pilot among IDUs in Vancouver during a Treatment as Prevention (TasP) pilot. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2012;23:13A.
- 50. Lazarus L, Patel S, Shaw A, Leblanc S, Lalonde C, Hladio M, et al. Uptake of community-based peer administered HIV point-of-care testing: Findings from the PROUD study. PLoS ONE [Electronic Resour.] 2016;11(12):e0166942.
- 51. Williams B, Pedrana A, Howell J, Doyle J, Thompson A, Bramwell F, et al. Increasing hepatitis C testing uptake with point of care testing from the needle and syringe exchange desk lessons learned from the Rapid EC Feasibility Study. J Viral Hepat. 2018;25:28–9.
- 52. Doyle J, Hutton J, Zordan R, Cocco A, Iser S, Weiland T, et al. Hepatitis C in the ED-screening and linkage to care for hepatitis C infection in the emergency department using point-of-care testing. Hepatol Int. 2018;12(2):S238.
- 53. Evans A, Linzey D, Booth J. An innovative model for improving access to and uptake of testing and treatment for patients with chronic hepatitis C in the substance misuse community. Gut. 2012;61:A78.
- Apoola A, Brunt L. A randomised controlled study of mouth swab testing versus same day blood tests for HIV infection in young people attending a community drug service. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2011;30(1):101–3.

- 55. Fernandez-Lopez L, Folch C, Majo X, Gasulla L, Casabona J. Implementation of rapid HIV and HCV testing within harm reduction programmes for people who inject drugs: A pilot study. AIDS Care. 2016;28(6):712–6.
- 56. Schaffer D, Rensmann W, Leicht A, Wetzchewald A. TESTIT-rapid HCV/HIV testing for drug users in low-threshold services. Suchtmedizin Forsch Und Prax. 2013;15(4):241.
- 57. Scognamiglio P, Chiaradia G, Giovanetti M, Albertini E, Camposeragna A, Farinella M, et al. HIV rapid testing in community and outreach sites: results of a nationwide demonstration project in Italy. BMC Public Health. 2018;18(1):748.
- 58. Melin P, Hapca A, Hij A, Morel M, Volant J, Merlet E, et al. Ora-quick rapid test for HCV-A new and very interesting strategy. A 194 drug users study in a French center: Csapa 52. J Gastrointest Liver Dis. 2012;21:61.
- 59. Reynolds GL, Fisher DG, Brocato J, van Otterloo L, Khahlil K, Huckabay L. Stressful point-of-care rapid testing for human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis C virus, and syphilis. Int J STD AIDS. 2017;28(10):975–84.
- 60. Barocas JA, Linas BP, Kim AY, Fangman J, Westergaard RP. Acceptability of rapid point-of-care hepatitis C tests among people who inject drugs and utilize syringe-exchange programs. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2016;3(2).
- 61. Haynes LF, Korte JE, Holmes BE, Gooden L, Matheson T, Feaster DJ, et al. HIV rapid testing in substance abuse treatment: implementation following a clinical trial. Eval Program Plann. 2011;34(4):399–406.
- 62. Seewald R, Bruce RD, Elam R, Tio R, Lorenz S, Friedmann P, et al. Effectiveness and feasibility study of routine HIV rapid testing in an urban methadone maintenance treatment program. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. 2013;39(4):247–51.
- 63. Trooskin SB, Tzarnas S, Allen M, Brodsky A, Magaldi L, Moy C. Impact of HCV testing in a targeted group of high risk individuals from the community. Gastroenterology. 2015;148(4):S1096.
- 64. Assoumou SA, Paniagua SM, Linas B, Wang J, Samet JH, Hall J, et al. Rapid vs. standard testing for HIV and HCV at a drug detox: A randomized trial. Top Antivir Med. 2018;26:451s-452s.
- 65. Ramers CB, Lewis R, Reyes L, Kuo A, Wyles DL. Initial results of a community-based rapid Hepatitis C testing and linkage to care program. Top Antivir Med. 2014;22:333–4.
- 66. Ramers CB, Lewis R, Reyes L, Wallace D, Gish R, Wyles D, et al. One-year results of a communitybased hepatitis C testing and linkage-to-care program. Top Antivir Med. 2015;23:289.
- 67. Ford M, Jordan A, Rude EJ, Johnson N, Hagan H, Laraque F, et al. Check hep C: A communitybased approach to hepatitis C diagnosis in high-risk populations. Hepatology. 2014;60:894A.
- 68. Stockman LJ, Guilfoye SM, Benoit AL, Vergeront JM, Davis JP, Centers for Disease C. Rapid hepatitis C testing among persons at increased risk for infection--Wisconsin, 2012-2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(14):309–11.

- 69. Wong VWS, Wong GLH, Chim AML, Cheng TF, Cheung SWY, Lai CMS, et al. Targeted hepatitis C screening among ex-injection drug users in the community. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;29(1):116–20.
- Winnichuk HJ, Demarinis C. Immunization uptake in a hard to reach high risk population An unexpected benefit of point of care (POC) HIV testing. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2010;21(4):190–1.
- 71. Anaya HD, Butler JN, Knapp H, Chan K, Conners EE, Rumanes SF. Implementing an HIV rapid testing-linkage-to-care project among homeless individuals in Los Angeles County: A collaborative effort between Federal, County, and City Government. Am J Public Health. 2015;105(1):85–90.
- 72. Lambert J, Cullen W, Oprea C, Story A, Sanchez JM, Surey J. Hepcare Europe: HepCheck; reaching vulnerable populations. J Hepatol. 2018;68:S153.
- 73. Lambert JS, Murphy C, O'Carroll A, Farrell J, Patel A, Avramovic G, et al. The Dublin hepcheck study: Community based testing of HCV by point of care oraquick HCV saliva test in homeless populations. J Hepatol. 2016;64(2):S726.
- 74. Preston S, Heaney S, Andrews J. A hepatitis C screening program for the homeless in New Orleans. J Gen Intern Med. 2016;31(2):S96.
- 75. Selvapatt N, Harrison L, Brown A. A pilot study of outreach testing for hepatitis C and linkage to care in a London centre for homeless persons. Gut. 2015;64:A109.
- 76. Stockwell S, Dean G, Cox T, Tweed M, Poole J, Hume G, et al. The sexual health of the homelessan outreach sexual health screening project. Sex Transm Infect. 2015;91:A90.
- 77. Surey J, Story A, Menezes D, Conneely J, Hayward A. Earth study (phase 1): Expanding access to rapid treatment for hepatitis C. J Hepatol. 2016;64(2):S461–2.
- Yaworski H, Hutlet P, Grierson R, Weldon E, Sneath R, Kasper K, et al. HIV point of care testing by community paramedics in a vulnerable population: A pilot study. Can J Emerg Med. 2016;18:S126.
- 79. Gahagan J, Hatchette T, Proctor-Simms M, Sharma S, Atkinson J, MacIsaac C. HIV point-of-caretesting: Results of a Nova Scotia-based pilot project. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2015;26:131B.
- 80. Bergman J, Gratrix J, Plitt S, Fenton J, Archibald C, Wong T, et al. Feasibility and field performance of simultaneous syphils and HIV point-of-care test based screening strategy in at risk populations in Edmonton, Canada. AIDS Res Treat. 2013;2013:819593.
- 81. Beckwith CG, Bazerman L, Cornwall AH, Patry E, Poshkus M, Fu J, et al. An evaluation of a routine opt-out rapid HIV testing program in a Rhode Island jail. AIDS Educ Prev. 2011;23(3):96–109.
- Bannan CL, Lynch PA, Conroy EP, O'Dea S, Surah S, Betts-Symonds G, et al. Point-of-care testing for HIV in an Irish prison setting: Results from three major Irish prisons. Int J STD AIDS. 2016;27(11):950–4.

- Candfield S, Samuel MI, Ritchie D, McDonald C, Brady M, Taylor C. Use and acceptability of salivary hepatitis C virus testing in an English Young Offender Institution. Int J STD AIDS. 2017;28(12):1234–8.
- Beckwith CG, Kurth AE, Bazerman LB, Patry EJ, Cates A, Tran L, et al. A pilot study of rapid hepatitis C virus testing in the Rhode Island Department of Corrections. J Public Health (Bangkok). 2016;38(1):130–7.
- Spaulding AC, Kim MJ, Corpening KT, Carpenter T, Watlington P, Bowden CJ. Establishing an HIV Screening Program Led by Staff Nurses in a County Jail. J Public Heal Manag Pract. 2015;21(6):538–45.
- 86. Tartaro C, Levy MP. An evaluation of an HIV testing program in the jail setting: Results and recommendations. Prison J. 2013;93(1):57–79.
- 87. Macgowan R, Margolis A, Richardson-Moore A, Wang T, Lalota M, French PT, et al. Voluntary rapid human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) testing in jails. Sex Transm Dis. 2009;36(2):S9-13.
- Shrestha RK, Sansom SL, Richardson-Moore A, French PT, Scalco B, Lalota M, et al. Costs of voluntary rapid HIV testing and counseling in jails in 4 states--advancing HIV Prevention Demonstration Project, 2003-2006. Sex Transm Dis. 2009;36(2):S5-8.
- 89. Simonsen KA, Shaikh RA, Earley M, Foxall M, Boyle C, Islam KM, et al. Rapid HIV screening in an urban jail: How testing at exit with linkage to community care can address perceived barriers. J Prim Prev. 2015;36(6):427–32.
- 90. Zaller ND, Patry EJ, Bazerman LB, Noska A, Kuo I, Kurth A, et al. A pilot study of rapid Hepatitis C testing in probation and parole populations in Rhode Island. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2016;27(2):214–23.
- 91. Gordon MS, Kinlock TW, McKenzie M, Wilson ME, Rich JD. Rapid HIV testing for individuals on probation/parole: outcomes of an intervention trial. AIDS Behav. 2013;17(6):2022–30.
- 92. Lessard D, Lebouche B, Engler K, Thomas R, Machouf N. Explaining the appeal for immigrant men who have sex with men of a community-based rapid HIV-testing site in Montreal (Actuel sur Rue). AIDS Care - Psychol Socio-Medical Asp AIDS/HIV. 2015;27(9):1098–103.
- 93. Ho E, Michielsen P, Damme P V, Ieven M, Veldhuijzen I, Vanwolleghem T. Point of care tests for hepatitis B and C infection are associated with a higher linkage to care in an Asian migrant population. J Viral Hepat. 2018;25:163.
- 94. Wouters K, Fransen K, Beelaert G, Kenyon C, Van Ghyseghem C, Collier I, et al. Use of rapid HIV test in low threshold centre in Antwerp, Belgium during 2007-2012. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89.
- 95. Esteban-Vasallo MD, Moran-Arribas M, Garcia-Riolobos C, Dominguez-Berjon MF, Rico-Bermejo J, Collado-Gonzalez S, et al. Targeted rapid HIV testing in public primary care services in Madrid. Are we reaching the vulnerable populations? Int J Infect Dis. 2014;19:39–45.
- 96. Ilaria U, Marina C, De Carolis S, Petrelli A, Vescio MF, Pezzotti P. Comparison of rapid and venous HIV testing strategies among vulnerable populations. Eur J Epidemiol. 2015;30(8):814–5.

- 97. Uccella I, Cammilli M, Viale S, Fazioli C, Testa R, Mirisola C. HIV rapid testing in the framework of a STI prevention project for vulnerable populations. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89.
- 98. Saunders S, Tulloch K, Maan EJ, van Schalkwyk J, Money DM. An Evaluation of Introduction of Rapid HIV Testing in a Perinatal Program. J Obstet Gynaecol Canada JOGC. 2017;39(8):668–75.
- 99. Johnston JB, Reimer JN, Wylie JL, Bullard J. Observational study of the populations accessing rapid point-of-care HIV testing in Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada, through a retrospective chart review of site records. Sex Transm Infect. 2018;94(3):194–9.
- 100. Criniti SM, Aaron E, Levine AB. Using the rapid HIV test to rescreen women in the third trimester of pregnancy. J Midwifery Womens Heal. 2009;54(6):492–6.
- 101. Kudryashova-Hernandez L. One body, one test, two lives: Patient centered strategy to increase HIV testing in pregnant women and their partners. Retrovirology. 2012;9.
- 102. Gaitán-Duarte HG, Newman L, Laverty M, Habib NA, González-Gordon LM, Ángel-Müller E, et al. Comparative effectiveness of single and dual rapid diagnostic tests for syphilis and HIV in antenatal care services in Colombia. Revisita Panam Salud Publica/ Pan Am J Public Heal. 2016;40(6):455–61.
- 103. Garcia PJ, Peeling R, Mabey D, Holmes KK. Implementation of rapid tests for prenatal syphilis screening: Overcoming health system constraints. Sex Transm Infect. 2011;87:A5.
- 104. Garcia P, Peeling R, Mabey D, Holmes K. The CISNE project: Implementation of POCT for syphilis and HIV in antenatal care and reproductive health services in Peru. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89.
- 105. Bungay V, Kolar K, Thindal S, Remple VP, Johnston CL, Ogilvie G. Community-based HIV and STI prevention in women working in indoor sex markets. Health Promot Pract. 2013;14(2):247–55.
- 106. Fernandez-Balbuena S, Belza MJ, Urdaneta E, Esteso R, Rosales-Statkus ME, de la Fuente L, et al. Serving the underserved: an HIV testing program for populations reluctant to attend conventional settings. Int J Public Health. 2015;60(1):121–6.
- 107. Fernandez-Balbuena S, de la Fuente L, Hoyos J, Rosales-Statkus ME, Barrio G, Belza MJ, et al. Highly visible street-based HIV rapid testing: Is it an attractive option for a previously untested population? A cross-sectional study. Sex Transm Infect. 2014;90(2):112–8.
- 108. Diserens EA, Bodenmann P, N'Garambe C, Ansermet-Pagot A, Vannotti M, Masserey E, et al. Clients of sex workers in Switzerland: it makes sense to counsel and propose rapid test for HIV on the street, a preliminary report. BMC Infect Dis. 2010;10:74.
- 109. Sabido M, Benzaken AS, De-Andrade-Rodrigues EJ, Mayaud P. Rapid point-of-care diagnostic test for syphilis in high-risk populations, Manaus, Brazil. Emerg Infect Dis. 2009;15(4):647–9.
- 110. Chen XS, Yin YP, Wei WH, Peeling R. Screening high-risk populations using rapid syphilis tests: The importance of social and cultural contexts. Sex Transm Infect. 2011;87:A2–3.
- 111. Asher AK, Evans J, Hahn JA, Briceno A, Page K. Behavioral risk changes in young people who inject drugs following rapid HCV testing. Hepatology. 2014;60:1061A.

- 112. Author. Reach at-risk youth with rapid HIV tests [Internet]. Vol. 30, Relias Media. 2009. p. 46–8. Available from: https://www.reliasmedia.com/articles/112422-reach-at-risk-youth-with-rapid-hiv-tests?v=preview
- Gwadz M V, Cleland CM, Quiles R, Nish D, Welch J, Michaels LS, et al. CDC HIV testing guidelines and the rapid and conventional testing practices of homeless youth. AIDS Educ Prev. 2010;22(4):312–27.
- 114. Umaipalan A, Creighton S, Millett D. Outreach HIV testing. HIV Med. 2011;12:58.
- 115. Millett D, Creighton S. HIV testing as part of NHS health checks: Report from a community testing initiative. HIV Med. 2010;11:115.
- 116. Harrison C, Warriner J, Skinner C, Larbalestier N, Ward P. Community HIV testing: the feasibility and acceptability of assertive outreach and community testing to reduce the late diagnosis of HIV M Brady1. HIV Med. 2011;12:4.
- 117. Sekhon P, Corredor C, Resinenete J, Quraishi A, Dhairyawan R, Soni S. Outreach initiatives encourage HIV testing in hard-to-reach communities. HIV Med. 2014;15:106–7.
- 118. Dunkley Y, Swift B, Chiu F, Warwick J, Worrall S. Making the case for community HIV testing: A comparison of targeted community testing demographics, reactivity and testing frequency across level 2 and 3 services, online self-sampling and community provision within East London. HIV Med. 2018;19:S137.
- 119. Freeman-Romilly M, Sheppard P, Desai S, Cooper N, Brady M. Does community-based point-ofcare HIV testing reduce late HIV diagnosis? A retrospective cohort study. HIV Med. 2014;15:93.
- 120. Roberts C, Watson L, Turner R, Caverley-Frost L, Scott P, Allen K. Reaching the unreachablenurse-led STI screening at erotica 2013. HIV Med. 2014;15:27.
- 121. Hoyos J, Belza MJ, Fernandez-Balbuena S, Rosales-Statkus ME, Pulido J, de la Fuente L, et al. Preferred HIV testing services and programme characteristics among clients of a rapid HIV testing programme. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:791.
- 122. Camacho-Gonzalez AF, Gillespie SE, Thomas-Seaton L, Frieson K, Hussen SA, Murray A, et al. The Metropolitan Atlanta community adolescent rapid testing initiative study: Closing the gaps in HIV care among youth in Atlanta, Georgia, USA. AIDS. 2017;31:S267–75.
- 123. Feldacker C, Torrone E, Triplette M, Smith JC, Leone PA. Reaching and retaining high-risk HIV/AIDS clients through the internet. Health Promot Pract. 2011;12(4):522–8.
- 124. Magaldi L, Brown N, Coleman C, Dorshimer M, Kostman J, Zaret D, et al. Testing and linkage to care outcomes in baby boomers versus young adults tested in the community and linked to care at a Federally Qualified Health Center in the US. J Hepatol. 2018;68:S159–60.
- 125. Zinski A, Dougherty SM, Tamhane A, Ross-Davis KL, Raper JL. Point-of-care HIV testing and linkage in an urban cohort in the southern US. AIDS Res Treat. 2013;2013:789413.
- 126. Bowles KE, Clark HA, Tai E, Sullivan PS, Song B, Tsang J, et al. Implementing rapid HIV testing in outreach and community settings: Results from an advancing HIV prevention demonstration project conducted in seven U.S. cities. Public Health Rep. 2008;123:78–85.

- 127. Eggman AA, Feaster DJ, Leff JA, Golden MR, Castellon PC, Gooden L, et al. The cost of implementing rapid HIV testing in sexually transmitted disease clinics in the United States. Sex Transm Dis. 2014;41(9):545–50.
- 128. Keller S, Jones J, Erbelding E. Choice of Rapid HIV testing and entrance into care in Baltimore City sexually transmitted infections clinics. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2011;25(4):237–43.
- 129. Becker M, Thompson L, Bridger N, Pindera C, Keynan Y, Bullard J, et al. Point of care HIV testing in a tertiary care emergency department in Winnipeg, Canada. Can J Infect Dis. 2012;23:14A.
- 130. Becker ML, Thompson LH, Pindera C, Bridger N, Lopez C, Keynan Y, et al. Feasibility and success of HIV point-of-care testing in an emergency department in an urban Canadian setting. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2013;24(1):27–31.
- 131. Lee B, Fenton J, Preiksaitis J, Singh A. Evaluation of a rapid HIV testing pilot program in acute care settings in Alberta, Canada. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2009;34:S71.
- 132. Genet P, Legall C, Peudepiece P, Briand F, Courdavault L. Difficulties of routine rapid HIV screening in emergency department. Retrovirology. 2010;7:P108.
- 133. Leblanc LJ, Jegou C, Fossoux N, Lancien C, Bastide T, Verbrugghe R, et al. Effectiveness of nursedriven HIV screening targeting key populations in emergency departments in metropolitan Paris: The anrs dici-vih cluster-randomized two-period crossover tria. Clin Ther. 2017;39(8):e5.
- 134. Geretti AM, Austin H, Villa G, Williams J, Davies P, Hopkins M, et al. Point-of-care HCV RNA screening by finger-prick is technically feasible but uptake is reduced by concomitant offer of HIV testing. HIV Med. 2018;19:S56–7.
- 135. Cirone M V, Probst BD, Stake CE, Bacidore VA, McShane C, Cichon ME, et al. The implementation of opt-in rapid HIV testing in an urban emergency department. Ann Emerg Med. 2013;62(4):S64.
- 136. Lowman E, Harper JB, Livak M, Jain S, Rush A, Kessler A, et al. Rapid HIV testing in a large urban emergency department. Ann Emerg Med. 2009;54(3):S39–40.
- 137. Manteuffel J, Markowitz N, Ham DC, Slezak M, Perrotta G, Peters PJ, et al. Implementation of an emergency department syphilis and HIV point-of-care screening process during an outbreak of syphilis in Detroit, MI in collaboration with the infectious disease department and the centers for disease control and prevention. Ann Emerg Med. 2016;68(4):S148.
- 138. Schlesinger S, Arora S, Menchine M, Newton K, Jacobson K, Takayama C, et al. Routine, nontargeted screening for HIV: Year one findings of the "R/O HIV in the LAC+USC ED" program. Ann Emerg Med. 2012;60(4):S24–5.
- 139. Hsieh YH, Jung JJ, Shahan JB, Pollack HA, Hairston HS, Moring-Parris D, et al. Outcomes and cost analysis of 3 operational models for rapid HIV testing services in an academic inner-city emergency department. Ann Emerg Med. 2011;58(1):S133-139.
- 140. Christopoulos KA, Kaplan B, Dowdy D, Haller B, Nassos P, Roemer M, et al. Testing and linkage to care outcomes for a clinician-initiated rapid HIV testing program in an urban emergency department. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2011;25(7):439–44.

- 141. Osorio G, Giurgiulescu A, Hennessey Z, Wood A, Egan D, Wiener D, et al. Counselor Based Versus Integrated Routine HIV Screening in an Urban Emergency Department. Top Antivir Med. 2014;22:511.
- 142. Richey LE, Carpenter EJ, Barbeau JM, Hadi CM. Rapid HIV Testing in a New Orleans Emergency Department is Effective in Identifying New HIV Diagnoses and in Linking Patients to Care. J Louisiana State Med Soc. 2014;166(1):28–33.
- 143. Lubelchek RJ, Kroc KA, Levine DL, Beavis KG, Roberts RR. Routine, rapid HIV testing of medicine service admissions in the emergency department. Ann Emerg Med. 2011;58(1):S65-70.
- 144. Calderon Y, Leider J, Hailpern S, Chin R, Ghosh R, Fettig J, et al. High-volume rapid HIV testing in an urban emergency department. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2009;23(9):749–55.
- 145. White DAE, Anderson ES, Pfeil SK, Trivedi TK. Results of a rapid hepatitis c screening and diagnostic testing program in an urban emergency department. Acad Emerg Med. 2015;22(5):S235–6.
- 146. Minak J, Syverud S, Dillingham R, Dort K, Gessner A. Patient perceptions of HIV testing in a nonurban emergency department's express care. Ann Emerg Med. 2012;60(4):S83.
- 147. Ashby J, Braithwaite B, Gnani S, Walsh J, Cooke G. HIV testing in a polyclinic setting can reach untested "at-risk" groups. HIV Med. 2010;11:115–6.
- 148. Lascar M, Freer J, Phiri E. Tailoring HIV testing in a setting of late HIV diagnosis-is the tide turning? Re-audit of late HIV diagnosis after expanding HIV testing. HIV Med. 2014;15:82.
- 149. McMullen H, Leber W, Griffiths C, Mguni S, Anderson J, Millett D, et al. What is the experience of patients testing HIV-positive through rapid testing in general practice? A qualitative study. HIV Med. 2016;17:33.
- 150. Feldman J, Romine RS, Bockting WO. HIV risk behaviors in the U.S. transgender population: prevalence and predictors in a large internet sample. J Homosex. 2014;61(11):1558–88.
- 151. Anaya HD, Butler JN, Solomon JL, Knapp H, Hoang T, Kan V, et al. Implementation of nurseinitiated rapid HIV testing at high-prevalence primary care sites within the US Veterans Affairs health care system. Sex Transm Dis. 2013;40(4):341–5.
- 152. Flores EC, Lluque ME, Chiappe M, Lino R, Bayer AM. Operations research study to implement HIV and syphilis point-of-care tests and assess client perceptions in a marginalised area of Lima, Peru. Int J STD AIDS. 2015;26(10):723–8.
- 153. Pringle JI, Hoyano D, Bannar-Martin S, Rai B, Chow N, Buchner C, et al. Using pharmacy-based HIV point of care testing to access hard to reach populations. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2015;26:88B.
- 154. Buchanan R, Parkes J, Noble K, Grellier L, Youde R, Khakoo SI. The uptake of pharmacy-based targeted screening for hepatitis c in an isolated network of people who inject drugs. Gut. 2017;66:A98.
- 155. Phillips M, Vollans B, McFarlane L, Beckett-Hill C. In the community: A pilot service evaluation of HIV point of care testing community pharmacies. HIV Med. 2018;19:S52.

- 156. Fernandez-Balbuena S, Marcos H, Perez-Rubio A, Hoyos J, Belza MJ, de la Fuente L. The rapid test in Spanish pharmacies: A novel programme to reach heterosexual men? HIV Med. 2015;16(6):362–9.
- 157. Dong BJ, Lopez M, Cocohoba J. Pharmacists performing hepatitis C antibody point-of-care screening in a community pharmacy: A pilot project. J Am Pharm. 2017;57(4):510-515.e512.
- 158. Klepser M, Klepser DG, Dering-Anderson A, Morse J, Gulick P, Coyle J, et al. Implementation and evaluation of a collaborative community pharmacy-based hepatitis C virus (HCV) screening program with linkage to care. Pharmacotherapy. 2017;37(12):e223.
- 159. Calderon Y, Cowan E, Rhee JY, Brusalis C, Leider J. Counselor-based rapid HIV testing in community pharmacies. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2013;27(8):467–73.
- 160. Weidle PJ, Lecher S, Botts LW, Jones L, Spach DH, Alvarez J, et al. HIV testing in community pharmacies and retail clinics: a model to expand access to screening for HIV infection. J Am Pharm Assoc. 2014;54(5):486–92.
- Bradley ELP, Vidot DC, Gaul Z, Sutton MY, Pereyra M. Acceptability of oral rapid HIV testing at dental clinics in communities with high HIV prevalence in South Florida. PLoS One. 2018;13(4):e0196323.
- 162. Jackson-Malik P, McLaughlin MJ, O'Hara KT, Buxbaum LU. Rapid oral fluid testing for HIV in veterans with mental health diagnoses and residing in community-assisted living facilities. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. 2011;22(2):81–9.
- 163. Bischof JJ, Bell LL, Pierce JK, Cooper KL, Heine AD, Quinlivan EB, et al. Detecting HIV among persons accompanying patients to an infectious diseases clinic. Sex Transm Dis. 2015;42(1):54–6.
- 164. Negoita S, Campbell E, Hsieh YH, Rothman R. Outcomes of an integrated hepatitis C virus bloodbased and point-of-care screening program. Acad Emerg Med. 2018;25:S143.
- 165. Morano JP, Zelenev A, Lombard A, Marcus R, Gibson BA, Altice FL. Strategies for hepatitis C testing and linkage to care for vulnerable populations: point-of-care and standard HCV testing in a mobile medical clinic. J Community Health. 2014;39(5):922–34.
- 166. Lucht A, Munstermann D, Hagedorn HJ, Tiemann C, Kuttner-May S. Rapid HIV testing in the public health setting in north Rhine-Westphalia, 2011-2012. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89.
- 167. Bernal H, Pereira AA, Pires A, Costa AR, Ayer EZ, Bolzan A, et al. Improved timely diagnosis of HIV related to the policy of expanding access to diagnosis in Brazil. Sex Transm Infect. 2013;89.
- 168. Dijkstra M, Bruisten S, Hoornenborg E, Hogewoning A, De Vries H, Schim Van Der Loeff M, et al. Implementation of a rapid HIV-1 RNA test in diagnosing acute HIV infections among visitors of the Amsterdam clinic of sexually transmitted infections. J Clin Virol. 2016;82:S7–8.
- 169. Delaney KP, Rurangirwa J, Facente S, Dowling T, Janson M, Knoble T, et al. Using a multitest algorithm to improve the positive predictive value of rapid HIV testing and linkage to HIV care in nonclinical HIV test sites. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2016;71(1):78–86.